SENSITIVITY OF THE WEST ANTARCTIC ICE SHEET TO 2°C – SWAIS 2C SCIENTIFIC PROSPECTUS

sWAIS2C

RH Levy T van de Flierdt

ALL REPUBLICES LASS

MO Patterson DK Kulhanek H Hogan

GNS Science Miscellaneous Series 142 March 2022 DRAFT

Image courtesy: Craig Stevens (NIWA)

RIG



DISCLAIMER

The Institute of Geological and Nuclear Sciences Limited (GNS Science) and its funders give no warranties of any kind concerning the accuracy, completeness, timeliness or fitness for purpose of the contents of this report. GNS Science accepts no responsibility for any actions taken based on, or reliance placed on the contents of this report and GNS Science and its funders exclude to the full extent permitted by law liability for any loss, damage or expense, direct or indirect, and however caused, whether through negligence or otherwise, resulting from any person's or organisation's use of, or reliance on, the contents of this report.

BIBLIOGRAPHIC REFERENCE

Levy RH, Patterson MO, Kulhanek DK, van de Flierdt T, Hogan H. 2022. Sensitivity of the West Antarctic Ice Sheet to 2°C – SWAIS 2C: scientific prospectus. Lower Hutt (NZ): GNS Science. 50 p. (GNS Science miscellaneous series; 142). doi:10.21420/DRD3-AP98.

RH Levy, GNS Science, PO Box 30368, Lower Hutt 5040, New Zealand

Antarctic Research Centre, Victoria University of Wellington, PO Box 600, Wellington 6140, New Zealand

- MO Patterson, Department of Geological Sciences and Environmental Studies, Binghamton University, State University of New York, PO Box 6000, Binghamton NY 13902-6000, USA
- DK Kulhanek, Christian-Albrechts University of Kiel, Christian-Albrechts-Platz 4, 24118 Kiel, Germany

Department of Geological Sciences and Environmental Studies, Binghamton University, State University of New York, PO Box 6000, Binghamton NY 13902-6000, USA

- T van de Flierdt, Department of Earth Science and Engineering, Imperial College London, South Kensington Campus, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom
- H Horgan, Antarctic Research Centre, Victoria University of Wellington, PO Box 600, Wellington 6140, New Zealand

SWAIS 2C SCIENTIFIC PROSPECTUS ADDITIONAL AUTHORS

Richard H. Levy^{1,2}, Molly O. Patterson³, Denise K. Kulhanek^{3,4}, Tina van de Flierdt⁵, Huw Horgan², Timothy R. Naish², Gavin B. Dunbar², Jeanine Ash⁶, Alex Pyne², Darcy Mandeno², Paul Winberry⁷, David M. Harwood⁸, Fabio Florindo⁹, Francisco J. Jimenez-Espejo¹⁰, Andreas Läufer¹¹, Kyu-Cheul Yoo¹², Osamu Seki^{13,14}, Paolo Stocchi¹⁵, Johann P. Klages¹⁶, Jae II Lee¹², Florence Colleoni¹⁷, Yusuke Suganuma¹³, Edward Gasson¹⁸, Christian Ohneiser¹⁹, José-Abel Flores²⁰, David Try¹, Rachel Kirkman¹ and the SWAIS 2C Science Team.

- ¹ GNS Science, Lower Hutt, New Zealand
- ² Antarctic Research Centre, Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington New Zealand
- ³ Department of Geological Sciences and Environmental Studies, Binghamton University, Binghamton, NY, USA
- ⁴ Christian-Albrechts-University of Kiel, Kiel, Germany
- ⁵ Department of Earth Science and Engineering, Imperial College London, London, UK
- ⁶ Department of Earth, Environmental and Planetary Sciences, Rice University, Houston, TX, USA
- ⁷ Department of Geological Sciences, Central Washington University, Ellensburg, WA, USA
- ⁸ Department of Earth & Atmospheric Sciences, University of Nebraska-Lincoln, Lincoln, NE, USA
- ⁹ Instituto Nazionale di Geofisica e Vulcanologia, Rome, Italy
- ¹⁰ Instituto Andaluz de Ciencias de la Tierra, Spanish Research Council (CSIC), Armilla, Spain
- ¹¹ Federal Institute for Geosciences and Natural Resources, (BGR), Hannover, Germany
- ¹² Division of Glacial Environment Research, Korea Polar Research Institute, Incheon, Republic of Korea
- ¹³ National Institute of Polar Research, 10-3 Midori-cho, Tachikawa, Tokyo, Japan
- ¹⁴ Institute of Low Temperature Science, Hokkaidō University, Sapporo, Japan
- ¹⁵ NIOZ Royal Netherlands Institute for Sea Research, Den Burg, The Netherlands
- ¹⁶ Alfred Wegener Institute, Helmholtz Center for Polar and Marine Research, Bremerhaven, Germany
- ¹⁷ Istituto Nazionale di Oceanografia e Geofisica Sperimentale, Trieste, Italy
- ¹⁸ School of Geographical Sciences, University of Bristol, Bristol, UK
- ¹⁹ Department of Geology, University of Otago, Dunedin, New Zealand
- ²⁰ Department of Geology, University of Salamanca, Salamanca, Spain



This page left intentionally blank.

CONTENTS

ABS	TRACT	۲					
KEY	WORD	S					
1.0	SUM	IMARY	1				
2.0	THE SWAIS 2C PROJECT: MOTIVATION AND OVERVIEW						
	2.1	Global Context	3				
	2.2	Building on Previous Drilling at the West Antarctic Margin					
	2.3	The SWAIS 2C Portfolio of Stratigraphic Drilling Objectives	4				
	2.4	Scientific Objectives of the SWAIS 2C Project					
		2.4.1 Glacial Dynamics since the Last Glacial Maximum to Provide Mechai Insights	nistic 5				
		2.4.2 Late Quaternary Sea-Level and Ice-Sheet Contribution in Response Near-Future Climates	to 6				
		2.4.3 Pliocene Ice-Sheet Variability (Current CO ₂ Forcing and >2°C Warmi	ng)8				
		2.4.4 Late Oligocene – Miocene Variability and the Role of Tectonics and Carbon-Cycle Feedbacks	9				
		2.4.5 Life beneath the Surface – Microbial Communities in Extreme Polar Environments	11				
	2.5	Strategy and Methods	11				
		2.5.1 Drilling	12				
		2.5.2 Downhole Logging	13				
		2.5.3 Initial Core Description, Analysis, Processing and Storage	13				
		2.5.4 Off-Site Testing, Sampling and Analysis of Samples and Data	13				
		2.5.5 Primary Scientific Methods	14				
3.0	THE	DRILL SITES - REGIONAL CONTEXT AND SITE DETAILS	20				
	3.1	Regional Setting	20				
		3.1.1 Modern Setting	20				
		3.1.2 Basement Geology	20				
		3.1.3 Sedimentary Basins	21				
	3.2	Drill Sites	21				
		3.2.1 Regional Correlation					
		3.2.2 Kamb Ice Stream					
		3.2.3 Crary Ice Rise					
4.0	SCIE		29				
5.0	PRO	PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION PLAN					
	5.1	Overview					
	5.2	Sample and Data Management and Publication	31				
6.0	ACKNOWLEDGMENTS						
7.0	REF	REFERENCES					

FIGURES

Figure 1.1	Proposed SWAIS 2C drill sites at Kamb Ice Stream and Crary Ice Rise	1
Figure 2.1	Two contrasting published ice-sheet model simulations for the penultimate glaciation and Last Interglacial (MIS5e) and resulting sedimentary sequences that would accun the KIS and CIR sites for complete Ross Ice Shelf (RIS) collapse in MIS5e and a sta MIS5e	(MIS 6) nulate at ble RIS in 7
Figure 2.2	Key proxy datasets through the mid-Pliocene (3.3 to 3 Ma)	8
Figure 2.3	Paleotopographic reconstructions for West Antarctica from Paxman et al. (2019) for t at 24, 14, 5 Ma and today	time slices 10
Figure 2.4	Hot water drilling system	12
Figure 2.5	Glaciomarine sedimentology and facies model for glacial proximity	15
Figure 3.1	Regional stratigraphic correlation schematic	22
Figure 3.2	Fence diagram of available seismic data across the region around the KIS Drill Site.	23
Figure 3.3	Stratigraphic comparison for four sediment cores collected from beneath the Ross Ice compared to the generic ice shelf retreat model of Smith et al. (2019)	shelf, 24
Figure 3.4	Sediment sample and seafloor images at Kamb Ice Stream grounding zone	24
Figure 3.5	Seismic line KIS 1516_1	25
Figure 3.6	Seismic line KIS1920_3	26
Figure 3.7	Fence diagram of available seismic data across the region around the Crary Ice Rise	drill site27
Figure 3.8	Seismic line CIR_T	28
Figure 5.1	Project Management structure.	30

TABLES

Table 4.1	SWAIS 2C Science Team members by country and scientific discipline	29
-----------	--	----

ABSTRACT

The West Antarctic Ice Sheet (WAIS) presently holds enough ice to raise global sea level by \sim 5 m if completely melted. The unknown response of the WAIS to future warming remains a significant challenge for numerical models in quantifying predictions of future sea-level rise. Sea-level rise is one of the clearest planet-wide signals of human-induced climate change. The Sensitivity of the West Antarctic Ice Sheet to a Warming of 2°C (SWAIS 2C) Project aims to understand past and current drivers and thresholds of WAIS dynamics to improve projections of the rate and size of ice sheet changes under a range of elevated greenhouse gas levels in the atmosphere, as well as the associated average global temperature scenarios to and beyond the +2°C target of the Paris Climate Agreement.

Despite efforts through previous land- and ship-based drilling on and along the Antarctic margin, unequivocal evidence of major WAIS retreat or collapse and its causes has remained elusive. To address this gap, researchers, engineers and logistics providers representing 10 countries have established the SWAIS 2C Project, an international partnership comprised of geologists, glaciologists, oceanographers, geophysicists, microbiologists, climate and ice-sheet modellers and engineers, outlining specific research objectives and logistical challenges associated with the recovery of Neogene and Quaternary geological records from the West Antarctic interior adjacent to the Kamb Ice Stream and at Crary Ice Rise. New geophysical surveys at these locations have identified drilling targets in which new drilling technologies will allow for the recovery of up to 200 m of sediments beneath the ice sheet. Sub-ice-shelf records have so far proven difficult to obtain but are critical to better constrain marine ice-sheet sensitivity to past and future increases in global mean surface temperature up to 2°C above pre-industrial levels. Thus, the scientific and technological advances developed through this programme will enable us to test whether WAIS collapsed during past intervals of warmth and determine its sensitivity to a +2°C global warming threshold (UNFCCC 2015).

This document outlines the scientific background rationale, as well as the scientific, drilling operations and logistics implementation plan for the project.

KEYWORDS

Antarctica, West Antarctic Ice Sheet, Sea-level rise, Quaternary, Neogene, Siple Coast, Kamb Ice Stream, Crary Ice Rise.



This page left intentionally blank.

1.0 SUMMARY

Antarctic ice-sheet dynamics remain the largest uncertainty in projections of future sea level rise (Bamber et al. 2019; Bulthuis et al. 2019; DeConto and Pollard 2016; Edwards et al. 2019; Golledge et al. 2015; IPCC 2013; Oppenheimer et al. 2019). The West Antarctic Ice Sheet (WAIS), presently losing mass at an accelerating rate (Shepherd et al. 2018; Velicogna et al. 2014), holds enough ice, if melted, to raise global sea level by ~5 m (Fretwell et al. 2013; Morlighem et al. 2020). The SWAIS 2C Project aims to understand past and current drivers and thresholds of WAIS dynamics to improve projections of the rate and size of ice sheet changes under a range of elevated greenhouse gas levels in the atmosphere and associated average global temperature scenarios to and beyond the +2°C target of the Paris Climate Agreement (UNFCCC 2015). We will examine and quantify the sensitivity of WAIS to external drivers to assess its potential contribution to future sea-level change. Improved understanding of climate, ocean cryosphere and solid Earth interactions will reduce uncertainties in projections for decision-makers so that they can better anticipate and assess hazards and risks associated with sea-level rise under different mitigation pathways and evaluate the efficacy of adaptation strategies.

Previous drilling by the Deep Sea Drilling Project (DSDP), Ocean Drilling Program (ODP) and recent expeditions by the International Ocean Discovery Program (IODP), MeBo, and ANDRILL recovered stratigraphic records of past ice sheet behaviour across the mid to outer continental shelf. Similarly, the response of WAIS to past warmer-than-present climates has been inferred from far-field globally integrated records of sea level and foraminiferal δ^{18} O (De Vleeschouwer et al. 2017; Westerhold et al. 2020; Zachos et al. 2001). Despite these efforts, unequivocal evidence of major WAIS retreat or collapse and its causes has remained elusive. These critical data are now within reach of our new drilling technology. Through this project, we aim to obtain new geological records of past WAIS behaviour from beneath floating and grounded ice at two sites that we have surveyed in detail: Kamb Ice Stream (KIS-3, Drill Site 1) and Crary Ice Rise (CIR-1, Drill Site 2) (Figure 1.1). These sites offer an opportunity to extend the existing Ross Sea drill-core transect deep into the West Antarctic interior and launch the first Antarctic land-to-sea project.



Figure 1.1 Proposed SWAIS 2C drill sites at Kamb Ice Stream (KIS) and Crary Ice Rise (CIR). Inset A: topographic/bathymetric map across West Antarctica (colour scale in metres). Other key drill sites include MeBo, ANDRILL (AND-1B and -2A) and IODP Exp 374 Sites. Inset B: detail of the Ross Ice Shelf to include the South Pole Over-Ice Traverse and routes to drill sites 1 (KIS) and 2 (CIR). The new sites would anchor the southern end of a drill-site transect deep within West Antarctica.

The SWAIS 2C Science Team will use geological data from the new drill cores and associated paleoenvironmental modelling to help improve model-based projections of future ice-sheet-derived sea-level rise on short (decades to centuries) and longer (millennia) time scales. In doing so, we will address the key overarching question: *Under what climatic conditions does the WAIS collapse?* Outcomes of our research will contribute to a robust assessment of short-term, policy-relevant, scenarios of WAIS change, as well as the longer-term changes that will be 'locked-in' by current and forecast emissions trajectories.

2.0 THE SWAIS 2C PROJECT: MOTIVATION AND OVERVIEW

2.1 Global Context

Satellite observations show that Antarctica is losing mass at an accelerating rate (Bamber et al. 2018; Paolo et al. 2015; Rignot et al. 2019; Shepherd et al. 2018; Velicogna et al. 2014), with WAIS losing mass faster than other regions. WAIS is considered highly sensitive to future climate change, as much of it rests on bedrock -2500 m below sea level and is exposed to warming oceans (Fretwell et al. 2013; Morlighem et al. 2020; Pritchard et al. 2012). Collapse of *marine-based* sectors of WAIS has the potential to drive an increase in global sea level up to 3.6 m.

Glaciologists and geologists have long suggested that WAIS melt contributed to a rise in sea level between 6 and 9 m higher than today ~125,000 years ago (Dutton and Lambeck 2012; Kopp et al. 2009) during the last interglacial (LIG). Importantly, this melt occurred when global temperatures were only ~1°C warmer than pre-industrial values. Under such conditions, Greenland Ice Sheet (GIS) melt likely contributed 1–5 m of sea level (Neem Community Members 2013; Yau et al. 2016), requiring between 1 and 8 m sea-level equivalent from a full or partial collapse of WAIS and/or melt of Iow-lying areas in East Antarctica. Determining the sequence of future Antarctic sector melting is important, as magnitude, rate and regional pattern of sea-level change around the world is controlled by where and when ice mass is lost (Hay et al. 2014; Mitrovica et al. 2009). Our existing datasets lack direct physical evidence for WAIS disintegration during any of the late Pleistocene interglacials, with temperatures 1–2°C warmer than pre-industrial times. Our two proposed drill sites, Site 1 near the Kamb Ice Stream (KIS-3) grounding zone and Site 2 at Crary Ice Rise (CIR-1) (Figure 1.1), offer a means to obtain this direct evidence.

These unique data archives of Late Cenozoic paleoenvironmental history from extremely difficult to access regions at high southern latitudes will allow us to contribute to scientific objectives of several major global science programmes, including the International Continental Scientific Drilling Programme (ICDP) and IODP. To address fundamental questions regarding Earth system processes under warmer-than-present climates (e.g. ICDP Theme 04 and IODP strategic objective 3), and to identify potential climatic tipping points (e.g. IODP strategic objective 5), requires paleoenvironmental data from key regions that record Earth's history and document sensitivities. Because the magnitude of climate warming projected for the next century has not been experienced by Earth for more than three million years, paleoclimate reconstructions of past Antarctic Ice Sheet (AIS) response during this time interval will provide critical insight into its future behaviour. When integrated with numerical modelling experiments and modern process studies, the new drill-core data will allow us to examine the influence of climate dynamics and solid Earth processes in driving ice sheet variability and resulting sea-level change.

2.2 Building on Previous Drilling at the West Antarctic Margin

West Antarctica is 1.97 x 10⁶ km² in area (the combined size of France, Spain, Sweden and Germany) and is largely ice-covered, which means that its geological archives are hidden. A relatively large number of short (<5 m) sediment cores have been recovered at open marine sites across West Antarctica's continental shelves using gravity and piston coring systems. However, these records generally post-date 20 ka, as it is nearly impossible to penetrate over consolidated till deposited during the Last Glacial Maximum (LGM) using gravity-based coring systems. Scientific drilling offers the only means to access older archives. To date,

deep drilling into the West Antarctic continental shelf has only occurred at 13 sites. None are located landwards of the present calving line and thus do not directly sample paleoclimatic records from under the WAIS.

Geological records for the Miocene to Pleistocene in the Ross Sea have been recovered by the ANDRILL programme and at mid and outer continental shelf sites by IODP Expedition 374 (McKay et al. 2019; Figure 1.1). Sedimentary cycles in the AND-2A core revealed a highly dynamic history of ice flowing from East Antarctica throughout the early to middle Miocene and highlighted that marine-based ice advance occurred when CO₂ dropped below 400 ppm (Levy et al. 2016). A remarkable sequence of glacial-interglacial cycles comprising diamictite, sandstone, mudstone and diatomite was recovered in the AND-1B core. These data suggested that, while the WAIS advanced and retreated through much of the Plio-Pleistocene (McKay et al. 2012b), it likely completely collapsed during the warmest interglacials and remained absent through much of the early Pliocene (McKay et al. 2012a; Naish et al. 2009). However, these data come from sites approximately 900 km from the modern grounding zone of the WAIS and 1500 km from the ice sheet centre; therefore conclusions about past WAIS behaviour are less conclusive than those that could be drawn from more proximal records (Figure 1.1). The geological 'smoking gun' required to identify the timing of WAIS collapse and environmental conditions that caused complete retreat has yet to be obtained. Here we propose to 'fill the gap'.

2.3 The SWAIS 2C Portfolio of Stratigraphic Drilling Objectives

Proxy sea-level records and far-field shoreline reconstructions provide indirect evidence of the timing and magnitude of global ice volume variability (Dutton et al. 2015; Dutton and Lambeck 2012; Grant et al. 2019) and, in some cases, may indicate the relative meltwater contributions from different polar ice sheets when integrated with Glacial Isostatic Adjustment (GIA) modelling (Clark et al. 2002; Hay et al. 2014; Kopp et al. 2015; Mitrovica et al. 2009). However, new geological records next to the AIS are required to identify and quantify the potential contribution from specific sources of meltwater. WAIS is thought to be inherently more susceptible to collapse than the margin of the East Antarctic Ice Sheet (EAIS), but this remains to be demonstrated, as there are no paleoenvironmental records from Antarctica's interior.

Sedimentary records from the West Antarctic continental interior are needed to show when the WAIS fully collapsed in the past. Thus, the SWAIS 2C Project will focus its initial efforts along the Siple Coast, adjacent to the grounding zone at KIS and CIR. A new drill developed for the SWAIS 2C Project aims to acquire new Quaternary and Neogene sedimentary drill-core records of ice sheet and environmental variability adjacent to the present-day grounding zone of WAIS. These new records will provide the southern anchor of a drill-core transect in the Ross Sea sector from the continental slope into the heart of West Antarctica. Integration of new drill core data with state-of-the-art climate, ice sheet and GIA modelling will resolve WAIS sensitivity to a warming climate and reconcile its contribution to past global sea-level changes.

We have developed and built new drilling technologies for ice and sediment/rock to enable the international research community to access sedimentary archives beneath ice shelves, sea ice and from ice rises. Our proposed approach is novel, low-cost and opens new opportunities to obtain key records of environmental change and ice-sheet dynamics at remote locations across Antarctica in a manner that is not possible with existing equipment and logistical support.

The two projects at KIS and at CIR have been supported by the ICDP, as well as national science funding agencies and/or Antarctic programmes of Australia, Germany, Italy, New Zealand, South Korea, the United Kingdom and the United States. Several other nations are currently seeking support. The total project, including logistics, has been funded internationally at \$4.6 million USD.

2.4 Scientific Objectives of the SWAIS 2C Project

The SWAIS-2C Project has five scientific objectives, with associated testable hypotheses and guiding questions outlined below. Our scientific approach and methodologies are described in more detail in Section 2.5.5.

2.4.1 Glacial Dynamics since the Last Glacial Maximum to Provide Mechanistic Insights

Guiding Hypothesis (H1): Ice-solid-Earth feedbacks influenced ice dynamics along the Siple Coast on a multi-millennial time-scale trajectory during the Holocene.

Here, we seek to understand grounding line dynamics along the Siple Coast margin of WAIS during the LGM-to-Recent. Currently, nearly 40% of WAIS discharges through fast-flowing ice streams along the Siple Coast in the region of the KIS and CIR (Price et al. 2001). Over decadal, centennial and millennial timescales, the velocity of these ice streams has been highly variable (Bindschadler et al. 1990; Conway et al. 2002; Hulbe and Fahnestock 2007; Joughin and Tulaczyk 2002; Joughin et al. 2002; Retzlaff et al. 1993). An LGM to present record will provide a wealth of information concerning grounding line dynamics to guide development of better numerical models.

A missing piece in our understanding of ice-sheet dynamics is the role of negative feedbacks in grounding line stabilisation (Bradley et al. 2015; Kingslake et al. 2018; Matsuoka et al. 2015; Siegert et al. 2013). Sub-glacial ice-rise formation along grounding zones may play a fundamental role in LGM to present ice dynamics through negative feedbacks associated with pinning points (Matsuoka et al. 2015). However, evolution of these dynamically relevant topographic features is poorly understood and poorly represented in ice-sheet models. It is hypothesised that shelf ice became grounded at what is now CIR in response to fluctuating discharge from ice streams along the Siple and Gould coasts over the last millennia (Bindschadler et al. 1990; Hulbe and Fahnestock 2007). Conventional reconstructions have long assumed a unidirectional retreat of the grounding line from the continental shelf edge since the LGM (Conway et al. 1999) in response to rising global temperature (Bentley et al. 2014). However, recently uncovered evidence suggests that rapid retreat past the current grounding line during the Holocene was followed by re-advance, although the interplay of topographic and isostatic controls on this behaviour is not well understood (Halberstadt et al. 2016; Kingslake et al. 2018). This 're-advance' hypothesis is supported by isotopically 'light' $\delta^{13}C_{org}$ (-31 to -25‰) in Holocene-age sub-glacial lake sediments recovered below the Whillans and Mercer ice streams. These data suggest that marine conditions occurred above the (presently sub-glacial) site during the Holocene (Venturelli et al. 2020). In addition, numerical modelling suggests that post-LGM grounding line retreat was halted (Lowry et al. 2020) and potentially reversed (Kingslake et al. 2018) by crustal uplift due to glacial isostatic adjustment. The timing and magnitude of retreat and re-advance varies significantly between model simulations, leaving large uncertainty in the efficacy of the negative feedback processes involved and in the Holocene history of this important region. A better understanding of the potential for bedrock topography and mantle viscosity to slow or reverse early Holocene

grounding line retreat is fundamental to our capability to predict future ice-sheet change and resultant sea-level rise.

H1 Key Questions: (1) Has there been significant ice-sheet re-advance in the Siple Coast area since the early Holocene? (2) When did the CIR and KIS unground, and when did CIR re-ground? (3) Was re-advance driven by climatological and/or glaciological processes? (4) Can glacial isostatic adjustment halt ice retreat and cause re-advance?

2.4.2 Late Quaternary Sea-Level and Ice-Sheet Contribution in Response to Near-Future Climates

Guiding Hypothesis (H2): Ocean temperatures and circulation patterns are the key governing factor in driving WAIS dynamics during warmer-than-present Late Quaternary super-interglacials.

A primary goal of SWAIS-2C is to acquire records of WAIS extent during late Quaternary 'super-interglacials', which were characterised by warmer-than-present conditions both in Antarctica and globally (Brigham-Grette et al. 2013; Melles et al. 2012; Scherer et al. 2008). Proxy environmental data from the LIG (MIS 5e; ca. 129–116 ka) suggest that global mean temperature peaked at 1°C higher than the pre-industrial period (Dutton and Lambeck 2012; Otto-Bliesner et al. 2013). Maximum global mean sea level was 6–9 m above present-day (Austermann et al. 2017; Dutton and Lambeck 2012; Kopp et al. 2009). Global average temperatures during MIS 11 (ca. 425–395 ka) may have been 2°C higher than pre-industrial levels (Dutton et al. 2015; Lang and Wolff 2011) and maximum global mean sea level was 6–13 m higher than today (Dutton et al. 2015; Raymo and Mitrovica 2012). Antarctic margin temperature estimates during MIS 31 (ca. 1.08–1.06 Ma), a super-interglacial with high obliquity and eccentricity alignment, are several degrees warmer than pre-industrial (Beltran et al. 2020), and WAIS collapse has been inferred (Scherer et al. 2008).

Although orbital parameters during these interglacial periods were different from today, their warmer temperatures allow insights into past sensitivity of WAIS to climates that were like those projected under the Paris Agreement target. Sea-level reconstructions imply that WAIS and GIS were significantly smaller during these interglacials and imply a high sensitivity to small temperature increases. However, the ice volume loss and meltwater contribution from each ice sheet is still debated (DeConto and Pollard 2016; Goelzer et al. 2016; IPCC 2013; Neem Community Members 2013; Yau et al. 2016). Ever since the influential paper by John Mercer (Mercer 1978), WAIS collapse is assumed to occur during super-interglacials, but causes of WAIS retreat are equivocal (DeConto and Pollard 2016; Pollard et al. 2015; Sutter et al. 2016), and evidence of full collapse is indirect (McKay et al. 2012b; Neem Community Members 2013; Pollard and DeConto 2009; Scherer et al. 1998).



Figure 2.1 Two contrasting published ice-sheet model simulations for the penultimate glaciation (MIS 6) and Last Interglacial (MIS5e) and resulting sedimentary sequences that would accumulate at the KIS and CIR sites for (Scenario A) complete Ross Ice Shelf (RIS) collapse in MIS5e and (Scenario B) a stable RIS in MIS5e. Drilling will identify which sequence (and ice-sheet configuration) is most accurate.

Provenance records from the Amundsen Sea suggest partial WAIS collapse during MIS 5 (van de Flierdt et al. 2019) but a largely unchanged WAIS through other super-interglacials (e.g. there is no retreat signal through MIS 11). This contrasts with observations from the Wilkes Subglacial Basin (East Antarctica), where results imply larger ice loss during MIS 11 compared to MIS 5 (Blackburn et al. 2020; Wilson et al. 2018). These observations suggest that WAIS and EAIS sensitivity varied throughout the Pleistocene. Furthermore, while many ice-sheet modelling studies produce ice volume loss of similar magnitude through these interglacial episodes, they produce significantly different ice-sheet configurations. For example, some models simulate complete collapse of the WAIS during MIS 5 (Goelzer et al. 2016), while others maintain grounded ice in the Ross Sea region (Clark et al. 2020; Golledge et al. 2021) (e.g. Figure 2.1). New geological data from our proposed drill sites near the grounding zone of WAIS in the Ross Sea are required to determine whether WAIS completely or only partially collapsed during Quaternary interglacials (Figure 2.1). Outcomes will provide important targets for ice-sheet modelling and will ultimately improve our ability to simulate sea-level fingerprints, as they are highly dependent on the location of ice mass loss (Hay et al. 2014; Kopp et al. 2015) with important societal implications.

H2 Key Questions: (1) Did WAIS contribute to sea-level rise observed during the most recent interglacial (MIS 5)? (2) Did WAIS contribute to sea-level rise during other Late Quaternary 'super-interglacials' (e.g. MIS 11 and 31)? (3) What were the environmental conditions in the inner Ross Sea during Late Quaternary interglacials (e.g. ocean temperature, sea ice presence/absence)?

2.4.3 Pliocene Ice-Sheet Variability (Current CO₂ Forcing and >2°C Warming)

Guiding Hypothesis (H3): Marine-based ice sheets were highly dynamic and periodically expanded and retreated across the Siple Coast during the mid-Late Pliocene (3.3–2.6 Ma) but did not advance across the continental shelf during the early Pliocene (a marine-based WAIS could not grow, as climate was too warm prior to the M2 glaciation).

By 2100, projected atmospheric CO_2 concentrations will range from 430 to >1000 ppm depending upon future emission scenarios (IPCC 2013; Meinshausen et al. 2020). Proxybased pCO_2 reconstructions suggest that the Pliocene was the last time that atmospheric CO_2 levels exceeded 400 ppm and global mean temperatures were a few degrees warmer than pre-industrial (Dowsett et al. 2012; Haywood et al. 2013, 2016). Recent reviews of globally distributed Pliocene sea-surface temperature records indicate that global mean sea-surface temperatures were ~2.3–3.2°C warmer than pre-industrial during Pliocene interglacials when seasonal and regional changes of incoming solar radiation were similar to modern ones (e.g. Marine Isotope Stage KM5) (Haywood et al. 2016; Figure 2.2). This increase in seasurface temperature was amplified in high latitude regions and coincided with evidence from the AND-1B site of long-lasting periods of open marine conditions prior to 3.3 Ma (Naish et al. 2009; Pollard and DeConto 2009). An extended period of reduced marine-based ice during the early Pliocene was followed by a period of increased WAIS dynamism during the late Pliocene, where marine-based portions of WAIS advanced and retreated across the continental shelves (McKay et al. 2009; Naish et al. 2009). Pliocene WAIS was highly sensitive and responded dynamically when global mean surface temperatures exceeded 2°C, but the extent of glacial retreat and marine incursion into West Antarctica is unknown.





Pliocene sea-level oscillations have been linked to variable orbital influence on the seasonality of climate, captured in δ^{18} O records of ice volume and temperature (Lisiecki and Raymo 2005) that are commonly used in Pliocene ice-sheet modelling studies (Berends et al. 2019; de Boer et al. 2014; Pollard and DeConto 2009). Pliocene sediments in the Wanganui Basin suggest that the amplitude of sea-level change during the warm mid-Pliocene (3.3-2.7 Ma) was ~7 to 18 m and oscillated in response to astronomically paced 20-kyr changes in local insolation over Antarctica (Grant et al. 2019; Figure 2.2). Although the AND-1B and IODP U1361 records support periodic retreat of the WAIS and EAIS at 40 kyr timescales prior to 3.3 Ma, and 21 and 100 kyr timescales between 3.3 and 2.6 Ma, new records proposed here are required to confirm the frequency of WAIS dynamism and the extent of its retreat during the last time that Earth's climate equilibrated to 400 ppm atmospheric CO₂ (Figure 2.2). WAIS variability during Pliocene time could be represented at the SWAIS 2C drill sites by extended periods of open marine conditions or by evidence of astronomically paced local ice advance and retreat. The sediment core record, combined with reconstructions of sea-surface temperatures and sea ice, will help to constrain the sensitivity of WAIS during a 400 ppm atmospheric CO₂ world.

H3 Key Questions: (1) Was Early Pliocene climate sufficiently warm for open marine conditions to persist along the Siple Coast region throughout glacial and interglacial cycles? (2) Were marine ice sheets able to re-advance across West Antarctica and the Ross Sea during glacial episodes in response to a CO_2 decrease and climatic cooling at ~3.3 Ma? (3) How did WAIS respond to astronomical forcing threshold at 3.3 Ma? (4) Did the WAIS collapse during every mid-Pliocene interglacial episode, but, if not, why not?

2.4.4 Late Oligocene – Miocene Variability and the Role of Tectonics and Carbon-Cycle Feedbacks

Guiding Hypothesis (H4): A smaller-than-present terrestrial AIS during the Miocene Climate Optimum (MCO), produced by a combination of high atmospheric CO_2 and tectonic land subsidence, resulted in extensive and highly productive shallow marine seas that subsequently drew down CO_2 and culminated in global cooling and ice expansion during the middle Miocene Climate Transition (MMCT).

We anticipate recovering late Neogene and Pleistocene sediments at both the KIS and CIR sites; however, older sediments may also be recovered *in situ* or as re-worked elements. Late Paleogene to Early Neogene strata would allow a number of key science issues, outlined below, to be addressed.

The role of tectonics and vertical crustal movement in WAIS history is an open question. Topographic reconstructions suggest that much of West Antarctica was sub-aerial during the Oligocene and marine basins that transgressed West Antarctica first formed in the Miocene (Paxman et al. 2019; Wilson et al. 2013; Figure 2.3). Analysis of Antarctic drill cores and far-field proxy oxygen isotope data imply that marine ice sheets expanded onto the Antarctic continental shelf in the latest Oligocene as atmospheric CO₂ declined, but only because continental shelves remained shallow (Kulhanek et al. 2019; Levy et al. 2019; Naish et al. 2022). These marine ice sheets subsequently retreated as subsidence allowed warm water to transgress across a deepening West Antarctica. Marine ice sheets re-advanced as CO_2 dropped below 600 ppm in the early Miocene. However, these hypotheses regarding tectonic / ice sheet / climate feedbacks rely heavily on data from DSDP 270 in the central Ross Sea. Drilling at Siple Coast will provide important paleobathymetric constraints for the paleotopographic models and associated ice sheet histories (Figure 2.3).



Figure 2.3 Paleotopographic reconstructions for West Antarctica from Paxman et al. (2019) for time slices (left to right) at 24, 14, 5 Ma and today (scale bar in metres). Drilling at KIS and CIR will provide data to test these reconstructions with implications for ice sheet history.

During the MCO (~17 to 15 Ma), atmospheric CO₂ levels generally ranged between 300 and 600 ppm (Greenop et al. 2014; Sosdian et al. 2018; Steinthorsdottir et al. 2021) and average global surface temperatures were up to 3-7°C higher than pre-industrial values (You 2010; You et al. 2009; Steinthorsdottir et al. 2021). Such atmospheric CO₂ values and climatic conditions could be similar to those expected in the coming decades if emission targets are not reached, making the study of mid-Miocene climate a growing focus of the paleoclimate community (Steinthorsdottir et al. 2020). However, the mechanisms for natural changes in CO₂ during the mid-Miocene are unclear (Foster et al. 2012; Pagani et al. 1999; Sosdian et al. 2018, 2020). The MCO coincides with a larger positive δ^{13} C excursion than any other time in the past 50 million years (Sosdian et al. 2020). The 'Monterey Hypothesis' (Vincent and Berger 1985) implies that long-term cooling and invigorated oceanic upwelling led to enhanced productivity and burial of organic carbon, which caused CO₂ draw-down and culminated in the onset of an extensive and persistent AIS by 14 Ma. However, evidence for cooling and AIS expansion lags the δ^{13} C excursion by several million years (Holbourn et al. 2015; Levy et al. 2016). More recently, it has been suggested that volcanic outgassing caused a CO_2 increase to between 500 and 700 ppm at the start of the MCO (Foster et al. 2012). Global warming associated with this increase caused AIS retreat, sea-level rise and associated expansion of 'space' across continental shelves that enhanced organic carbon production and burial (Sosdian et al. 2020). Cooling and ice sheet advance through the Miocene Climate Transition (MCT; ~14 Ma) occurred once volcanic outgassing ended.

Recovery of Miocene sediments from the West Antarctic interior will test these hypotheses. Results from prior drilling (Ross Sea and Wilkes Land margin) showed that Antarctica's ice sheets were highly dynamic during the early to mid-Miocene (Levy et al. 2016; Levy et al. 2019; Pierce et al. 2017; Sangiorgi et al. 2018) and periodically retreated beyond their terrestrial margins during the MCO. New records from IODP Expedition 374 indicate that marine ice sheets retreated from the central Ross Sea through the MCO (McKay et al. 2019; Marschalek et al. 2021). Miocene diatom-bearing marine sediment recovered from sparse mud samples during hot water drilling at CIR in the 1980s (Harwood et al. 1989b) also suggest episodic open marine conditions across much of WAIS during the Miocene. While these data and associated modelling experiments suggest that the AIS retreated landwards of its terrestrial margin during the MCO, we have yet to recover *in situ* records to confirm whether full collapse of the WAIS occurred during peak warmth. Importantly, ice-free shallow marine(?) environments across West Antarctica through the MCO would have been areas where high marine productivity and carbon burial might have contributed to the unique Miocene carbon excursion.

H4 Key Questions: (1) Did tectonic subsidence influence marine ice sheet extent in the late Oligocene / early Miocene? (2) Were extensive open marine basins a feature across West Antarctica during the early Miocene? (3) Did marine-based ice sheets develop as more persistent features of the AIS system across the MCT?

2.4.5 Life Beneath the Surface – Microbial Communities in Extreme Polar Environments

Guiding Hypothesis (H5): Determining the taxonomy and activity of both living and inactive microbial populations in sediments will provide insights to modern element cycling and past environmental conditions.

Polar, sub-seafloor microbial communities are among the most under-sampled and poorly understood biomes on Earth, making them a high-interest target for deep biosphere research (Christensen et al. 2017). The deposition of organic matter produced by photosynthetic organisms in surface waters drives the activity and growth of sedimentary microorganisms. Continental shelves provide ample nutrients for primary producers, resulting in the highest abundances of sedimentary microbes in near-shore environments (Kallmeyer et al. 2012). However, sediments deposited in light-deficient sub-glacial waters and beneath grounded ice sheets represent a unique and extreme environment for microbial communities (Achberger et al. 2017). The Siple Coast setting is an ideal location to study microorganisms living in these extreme environments and to determine how their biology and unique adaptations allow them to persist over time. Furthermore, analysis of microbial communities in the different sedimentary facies recovered in the KIS and CIR cores offers a chance to examine how microbial communities evolve as the grounding zone position and thickness of the Ross Ice Shelf change through time (i.e. in response to changing nutrient input under open water versus ice-covered conditions). Whether these environmental changes leave detectable traces in the nucleic acids (i.e. microbial DNA and RNA) that can be extracted from the sediments is a question we aim to answer with potential applications for the reconstruction of Ross Sea ice shelf dynamics. Recovery of sub-glacial material along the Siple Coast region provides an unprecedented opportunity to extend our knowledge of marine benthic microbial communities, the deep biosphere and its biogeochemistry in the Ross Sea, and will build upon earlier work from ANDRILL (Carr et al. 2013), WISSARD (Christner et al. 2014; Vick-Majors et al. 2020) and ongoing work from IODP Expedition 374 (Ash et al. 2019).

H5 Key Questions: (1) How does sub-surface metabolic potential contribute to major and trace element cycling and carbon burial? (2) How do microbial communities respond to varying inputs in organic matter (i.e. open versus ice-covered conditions, discharge from sub-glacial lakes) over time? (3) What is the structure of microbial food webs in the extreme sub-glacial and sub-ice-shelf environment? (4) What past environmental conditions are indicated by inactive members of sub-surface communities like cysts and spores?

2.5 Strategy and Methods

We have assembled a diverse, international team of scientists, drillers, engineers and Antarctic operations experts that will allow us to achieve our stated goals. The SWAIS 2C Project team has a proven track record in Antarctic research. Specifically, our research methodology is built around an integrated data-model approach that utilises paleoclimatic data from drill cores to improve the ability of Antarctic climate and ice-sheet models to simulate past and future Antarctic environmental conditions and the consequences for global sea level. This approach was implemented in the ANDRILL Program (DeConto and Pollard 2016; Gasson et al. 2016; Golledge et al. 2015; Harwood et al. 2008–2009; Levy et al. 2016;

Naish et al. 2007; Naish et al. 2009; Pollard and DeConto 2009). We will use this proven approach to integrate new data from these locations, previously undrilled, to advance our understanding of the sensitivity of WAIS.

2.5.1 Drilling

Our engineers have developed a hot water / rock drilling system capable of recovering up to 200 m of sediment in places where the combined depth of the ice shelf (or sea ice) and water column is <1000 m thick. The system is housed in a tent that permits all-weather operation. Hot water is generated by six burners capable of producing 120 L/m of water at 95° C. The melt rate for a pilot hole is 0.2–0.5 m/hr. Reaming the hole to 350 mm diameter (the maximum for our system) in 600-m-thick ice takes 10 hours. A reaming run of five hours every 24 hours is required to maintain the hole at this diameter.



Figure 2.4 Hot water drilling system. Left: 3D concept diagram of the drill system operating through the ice shelf. Centre: Image of hot water drilling (HWD) system outside drill tent. The HWD mast will be moved aside for sediment coring / rock drilling and the drill rig positioned over the HWD ice hole. Right: MP1000 sediment/rock drilling rig being tested in Wellington prior to shipment to Antarctica.

We will use a sediment/rock drill (MP1000, Figure 2.4), co-owned by GNS Science an Victoria University of Wellington. The rig is an industry-standard (i.e. proven) wireline system. For soft sediment coring, we will use two systems: a hydraulic piston corer (HPC) and a punch corer designed and built by QD Tech, world leaders in this field. For hard rock drilling, we will use off-the-shelf diamond-bit rotary coring technology. The combined rig, drill pipe and casing package weighs ~30 tonnes, making it feasible to deploy within the constraints of existing Antarctic science support programmes.

Core will be recovered using three different approaches depending on lithology: (1) Hydraulic Piston Corer inside NQ-sized drill rod (bit internal diameter [ID] – 57.2 mm, outer tube bit throat ID – 51 mm) is our preferred coring tool and will be used until refusal, when it will be supplemented with punch coring; (2) Rotary coring with NQ2 drill string (bit ID – 50.5 mm); (3) Rotary coring with BQTK-sized rod (bit ID – 40.7 mm), which will be used in harder lithologies and may be used to cut the NQ drill string if necessary.

This drill system's small logistical footprint (including limited personnel onsite) will utilise a 12-hour drilling operation but will have the option to run a continuous two-shift operation over 24 hours if time (drilling window) becomes a constraint due to ice shelf movement or ice hole re-freeze rate.

2.5.2 Downhole Logging

The small diameter of our new drilling system presents a technical challenge to traditional downhole logging, as there are few 'off-the-shelf' logging tools slim enough to be deployed through the drill bit into the open borehole. The short drilling/logging window means duration is also an important factor in our logging strategy. Furthermore, the shallow holes (<200 mbsf) and likely unconsolidated nature of the surrounding sediment means that logging in an open hole heightens the risk of losing logging tools in the hole. Our approach to downhole logging is therefore to use the ICDP Operational Support Group (OSG) 'slimhole' Memory Logging tools (sondes) (iMLS). These are self-contained, and no logging winch is required for deployment. While a new version of the iMLS depth-measuring device needs to be built, the existing spectral gamma (mSGR) and resistivity (mDIL) tools can be used without modification with an NQ-sized rotary bit. Other memory tools (sonic [mBCS] and magnetic susceptibility [mMS]) are too big to pass through the NQ rotary bit, although the mBCS can be used with the slighly wider NQ-hydraulic piston corer bit in place. Logging occurs as the NQ pipe is pulled from the hole upon a bit change or upon completion of drilling, with the MEMBAT module and MSGR (possibly mBCS) mDIL tools assembled as a string. This approach saves critical time and will allow us to log the hole without casing. If time and hole conditions permit, it may also be possible to deploy four Leibnitz Institute for Applied Geophysics (LIAG) wireline tools: resistivity, magnetic susceptibility, acoustic televiewer and borehole mud temperature and salinity.

2.5.3 Initial Core Description, Analysis, Processing and Storage

On-ice core curation will comprise producing a drilling/recovery log and cutting the whole core into 1-m-long sections so that it can be readily transported and stored. On-ice science analysis will be limited to X-ray measurements of each core section using the GNS Science Ecotron EPX-F3200 3.2KW [100kV/60mA] X-ray generator and Carestream Vita Flex digital imager, smear slide analysis of core cutter material and collecting and fixing of samples for microbiology. Fast-track samples from core cutter material may be sent off ice for paleontological assessment as opportunities arise. Where appropriate, microbiology samples will be taken from freshly cut core surfaces using sterile syringes to collect 5–20 cm³ of sediment, which will be fixed and stored for amplicon profiling and metagenomic studies at home institutions. Cores will be flown from the drill site to Scott Base, where they will be stored at ~4°C before transfer to New Zealand for splitting and initial analysis by the scientific team. At the end of an initial characterisation and sampling phase in New Zealand, sediment cores will be transported for permanent storage at the Marine & Geology Repository at Oregon State University.

2.5.4 Off-Site Testing, Sampling and Analysis of Samples and Data

Core will be shipped to the University of Otago Repository for Core Analysis (ORCA) facility, where whole core will be processed through a Geotek multi-sensor core logger to collect physical properties data, including gamma attenuation bulk density, compressional p-wave velocity and magnetic susceptibility. Core will also be run through an X-Ray CT scanner at the Invermay campus of AgResearch Ltd. Core will be split once whole-core data have been collected and our team of ~30 scientists from partner countries have convened at the ORCA facility to describe and sample the core. We anticipate that this will occur during the first May following core recovery.

Core will be separated into archive and working halves. High-resolution images and X-ray fluorescence (XRF) analyses will be made on the archive core half. The working half of the core will be examined by the science team, which will include visual core description and

preliminary sedimentologic analyses to identify depositional environments (grounded ice, glacial marine and open marine conditions) and provenance. Sub-samples will be taken from the core for initial micropaleontological, geochronological (radiometric dating of appropriate material), organic geochemical analysis and paleomagnetism.

We anticipate involving members of the modelling group at the core processing stage so that we can develop modelling experiments based on preliminary core analyses. This will ensure that modelling and observational/paleoclimatic data are well integrated from the beginning.

Draft Science and Operations reports, as well as an initial report, will be compiled during and immediately following the core workshop and distributed to partner nations upon completion.

2.5.5 Primary Scientific Methods

2.5.5.1 Chronostratigraphy and Age Model

One of the most important datasets to address our hypotheses is development of robust age models for the recovered cores. Chronostratigraphy can be challenging in Antarctic sediments due to high fragmentation and mixing of different ages of glacial sediment. Substantial advances over recent decades have significantly improved the toolboxes available for Antarctic chronostratigraphy, including improved biostratigraphic utility of diatoms, radiolarians and dinoflagellates (Bijl et al. 2013; Clowes et al. 2016; Renaudie and Lazarus 2016; Winter et al. 2012), use of paleomagnetic secular variation (Collins et al. 2012; Hillenbrand et al. 2010; Willmott et al. 2006) and relative paleointensity records (Channell and Lanci 2014; Channell et al. 2009; Ohneiser et al. 2013), in addition to geomagnetic reversal stratigraphy (Florindo et al. 2003, 2013; Kulhanek et al. 2019; Ohneiser and Wilson 2012; Ohneiser et al. 2019; Tauxe et al. 2012; Wilson et al. 2012); tephrostratigraphy (Di Roberto et al. 2019; Hillenbrand et al. 2008; Narcisi et al. 2012) and analysis of radiocarbon in organic material using ramped pyrolysis to reduce the 'old carbon' contamination problem (Rosenheim et al. 2008; Subt et al. 2017; Venturelli et al. 2020). Additionally, a statistical technique (constrained optimisation [CONOP]) that integrates biostratigraphic, paleomagnetic and other datasets from the Southern Ocean has allowed development of high-resolution quantitative stratigraphic age models (Cody et al. 2008, 2012; Florindo et al. 2013). Lastly, high-resolution physical properties data (including magnetic susceptibility and gamma ray attenuation bulk density), as well as geochemistry from XRF core scanning, can also be used for cyclicity analysis useful for age model tuning and orbital forcing identification (Patterson et al. 2014).

2.5.5.2 Glacial Regime

We will identify changes in ice-cover extent and grounding line migrations at KIS and CIR using sedimentary facies analysis and associated proxy data via an approach established during previous Antarctic drill core studies. This approach includes (but is not limited to):

Visual core description: The core description team will follow the visual core description protocol used for ANDRILL (Krissek et al. 2007), which combines a textural classification scheme for gravel-bearing sediment (Moncrieff 1989) and compositional scheme used for marine and volcanoclastic sediments by the ODP (Mazzullo et al. 1988; White and Houghton 2006). Description data will be captured with core logging program PSICAT – 'Paleontological Stratigraphic Interval Construction and Analysis Tool', available as freeware.¹

^{1 &}lt;u>https://github.com/laccore/coretools/releases</u>

• Sedimentary facies analysis: Deposition of sediment in glacimarine environments is strongly influenced by the role of ice as a transport medium, as a habitat for diatoms (sea ice) and for its exclusion of light to the upper ocean (shelf ice). Previous sampling of the Antarctic continental shelf seafloor (Alley 1989; Anderson et al. 1984; Domack and Harris 1998; Domack et al. 1999; Dunbar et al. 1985) and deeper drilling by ANDRILL and IODP (Fielding et al. 2011; Krissek et al. 2007; McKay et al. 2009; Naish et al. 2009; Passchier et al. 2011; Patterson et al. 2014) has recovered a range of sediment types and stratigraphic motifs that represent repeated patterns of glacial to interglacial oscillations under different ice-sheet configurations. Sub-ice-shelf sediments provide the most direct evidence of changing ice cover over those sediments as variations from sub-ice-shelf to open marine conditions (i.e. proximity of the grounding and calving lines) are characterised by distinct sedimentary facies that can be distinguished by grain size frequency distributions, water content, shear strength, sediment composition, sedimentary structures, microfossil content/taphonomy, total organic carbon and a range of other environmental proxies (Smith et al. 2019) (summarised in Figure 2.5).

Mud Sand Diami	, Env	. Lithology	Sediment structures & characteristics	Depositional setting & processes	Diatom content	Foraminifera assemblages	Proxies	Sedimentation rate (mm/yr)	
	ollapse	Sand, muddy sand, diamicton	Massive to stratified with inc. in coarse-grained debris associated with distintegration	Collapse; release of englacial/supraglacial debris	Open ocean Inc. in fragments	Adercotryma wrighti, Fursenkoina fusoformis	Inc. in sponges TOC >0.3%	2–3000; LIS-A, B	0
	0	Sand	Massive, size-sorted	Pre-collapse; hydrofracturing	Chryosophytes	Trifarina earlandi	?	<2.5; LIS-A, PGC	10
	Open marine	Diatom-bearing/ diatomaceous mud	Massive or stratified with dispersed IRD (diverse provenance). Bioturbated. 0–5 kPa	Open ocean/ sea-ica/ polynya; suspension settling and rain-out	Open ocean/ sea-ice assemblage ADA 200–300 (PB) ADA > 100 (NW Wedd) ADA 0.4–250 (Cen. Ross) ADA 0.01–1.5 (LISB) ADA 12.9 (LISA)	Open ocean assemblage	TOC >0.5% TOC/N >5 TC/N >6 10Be 0.3–3.750 (avg. = 1.7969)	>0.5	9
0,0 0, 0	one	Dropstone mud	Inc. in IRD, bioturbation.	Calving line; rain-out, in-situ		Trifarina angulosa	TOC 0.5%	?	8
	If Calving zo	Mud, sandy muds	Massive. Inc. grain-size towards calving line. IRD (restricted provenance) 0–5 kPa	Calving Zone; sedimentation dominated by advection of biogenic and siliciclastic mud	Inc adundance of 'younger' diatoms		TOC 0.21–0.38 (avg. 0.29) TOC/N 6–17 (avg. 10)	Calving line 1.1–2.4; BB (unknown) 0.021–0.045; LIS-B (25–45 km)	(CL)
	she	Mud	Massive	Null zone; little or no		Astrononion echolsi	TC/N 7-24	(20 10 101)	6
	tal Sub-ice-	Mud Laminated - laminae thickness decreases up-core. 0-5 kPa		GL distal settling dominated by suspension settling from sediment plumes originating from the GL	ADA 28–160 (Amery) ADA 0.001–0.9 (LISB)	Nonionella bradii, Globocassidulina subglobosa, Globocassidulina biora Miliammina arenacea Portatrochammina sp	(avg. 13) 10Be 0–0.5 (avg. = 0.2086)	0.82–0.95; PIG (45–55 km) >0.0022; (aeolian)	6
	Dis	Sand, sandy muds	Graded, ripple and planar laminae	Expanding cavity, tidal pumping, >10 km from GL		N. pachyderma sin.	TOC 0.13-0.35	(4
p ^o		Pellet-rich mud (=granulated facies)	Till pellets/dropstones interbedded with sand and/or mud laminae	Cavity, dominated by rainout of debris, <10 km from GL	ADA 0.5–7.19 (Amery) ADA 0.001–0.023 (LISB)	(non ononcod)	(avg. 0.26) TOC/N 5–21		3
	Proximal	'Stratified' Diamicton	Aligned clasts, crude stratification. 5–25 kPa, decreasing up core	Grounding zone; sediment aggradation (GZW), glacigenic debris flows, turbidity currents, rainout	Reworked 'older' diatoms, inc. fragments. First appearance of modern diatoms	Portatrochammina pseudotriceramata, Cyclamminia pusilla G. biora (pustulose)	(avg. 10) TC/N 13–33 (avg. 21)	>34; PIG (<10 km)	2
	ubglacial	'Soft' Diamicton	Massive, matrix supported 'soft' diamicton. with lower shear strength relative to stiff till; 5–25 kPa	Subglacial deformation during streaming flow	Reworked 'older' diatoms, inc. fragments. Enriched in heaviv	Reworked, fragmented	TOC 0.06–0.25 (avg. 0.12) TOC/N 8–31 (avg. 15)		1
	ũ	'Stiff' Diamicton	Massive, matrix supported 'stiff' diamicton. >25–30 kPa <porosity, planar<br="">structures</porosity,>	Hybrid lodgement- deformation till	silicified valves	toraminifera	TC/N 15–79 (avg. 39)		
Diamicton Image: Class Im									

Figure 2.5 Glacion

<u>م</u>.

Glaciomarine sedimentology and facies model for glacial proximity (from Smith et al. [2019]).

• **Cosmogenic nuclides:** The concentration of *in situ* cosmogenic nuclides in the sand fraction of marine sediment can yield information on the chronology and erosion rate of terrestrial material delivered to the core site. Analysis of ¹⁰Be and ²⁶Al in marine sediment cores will help to distinguish periods of progressive erosion and ice-sheet stability and periods of ice-sheet expansion (Bierman et al. 2016). Analysis of cosmogenic nuclides in sediment recovered from KIS and CIR may allow us to identify variations in ice-sheet stability, including potentially long periods of retreat where erosion of exposed bedrock during interglacials raised isotopic concentrations in the material delivered to the drill core site.

The concentration of meteoric ¹⁰Be, adsorbed to atmospheric particles and rained out into the marine environment, where it accumulates in marine sediment, can be used as a proxy for ice-shelf presence or absence in the Ross Sea (Yokoyama et al. 2016). Thus, analysis of decay-corrected concentration of ¹⁰Be through the recovered core material from KIS and CIR can provide a tracer for ice shelf history.

2.5.5.3 Ice Flow Reconstructions (Sediment Provenance)

The geochemical fingerprint of sediments at a drill site can be traced back to the precursor rocks on the continent, thereby identifying past areas of erosion and associated glacier (and possibly ocean) paleo-flow paths. The varied grain sizes in glacial sediments means a range of provenance tools can be applied, including radiogenic neodymium (Nd) and strontium (Sr) isotope compositions on fine-grained material (Farmer et al. 2006a; Hemming et al. 2007; Roy et al. 2007) and zircon U-Pb dating and hornblende/biotite ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar dating on sand-sized material (Licht et al. 2005, 2014; Simões Pereira et al. 2018). Gravel clast and sand petrography (Giorgetti et al. 2009; Sandroni and Talarico 2011; Talarico et al. 2013; Talarico and Sandroni 2011; Zattin et al. 2012), as well as clay mineralogy, augments the geochemical techniques. Together, these techniques have proven a powerful method for reconstructing past ice-sheet dynamics (Bertram et al. 2018; Cook et al. 2013, 2014; Talarico and Sandroni 2011; Williams et al. 2010; Wilson et al. 2018).

Specific to the SWAIS 2C drill sites, a largely intact WAIS during interglacials would see a provenance signal derived from central West Antarctica with predominant 100 Ma zircon U-Pb ages and radiogenic Nd isotopes, similar to the modern day (Farmer et al. 2006b; Licht et al. 2014). In contrast, a partial WAIS collapse would show a larger contribution from northern sources in Marie Byrd Land with older, Palaeozoic U-Pb ages and more radiogenic Nd isotopes (Hart et al. 1997; Pankhurst et al. 1998), while a full WAIS collapse would see additional material input from the southern Transantarctic Mountains and areas as distal as the Ellsworth-Whitmore Mountains (e.g. Jurassic U-Pb ages and non-radiogenic Nd isotope compositions) (Craddock et al. 2017).

2.5.5.4 Paleoenvironmental and Paleoceanographic Reconstructions

A wide variety of techniques are available to evaluate past marine and terrestrial environments using the recovered core material.

Micropaleontology: Microfossil assemblage data provide information regarding changes in depositional environment, water temperature, salinity, nutrients/water fertility, stratification, upwelling, sea-ice occurrence and ages of recycled sediments (Coenen et al. 2020; Harwood et al. 1989a; Leventer et al. 1993, 2002; Scherer 1991a; Scherer et al. 1988; Winter et al. 2012). Diatoms are particularly well suited to trace environmental conditions, as they occupy a broad range of Antarctic environments. Diatom assemblage information can be used as

an indicator of sea-ice presence (Armand et al. 2017; Esper and Gersonde 2014; Ferry et al. 2015; Gersonde et al. 2005; Gersonde and Zielinski 2000; Leventer 1998). Additionally, variations in assemblage composition and morphology can be used to estimate sea-surface temperature (Gersonde et al. 2005; Zielinski et al. 1998). Dinoflagellate cysts and marine palynology in general have demonstrated the potential to reconstruct upper water column properties; in particular, sea-ice occurrence, productivity, temperature and meltwater input throughout the Neogene and beyond (Hannah et al. 1998; Hartman et al. 2018; Sangiorgi et al. 2018; Warny et al. 2009). *In situ* terrestrial palynomorphs can provide information on the terrestrial environment and landscape (Sangiorgi et al. 2018; Warny et al. 2009). Even when pollen and spores are re-worked, they offer precious information on the age of the sediments eroded and deposited (for example, from glacial advance) at the drill site.

Environmental magnetism: Environmental magnetic fabric studies can reveal subtle changes in terrestrial weathering regime, depositional processes and the strength of ancient ocean currents. Environmental magnetic records have been used to identify changes in terrestrial climate with a magnetic mineral change identified at the Eocene/Oligocene boundary when Antarctica established its first large ice sheet (Sagnotti et al. 1998), identify changes in ice-flow patterns (Brachfeld et al. 2013), terrestrial soil formation and a transition to hyper arid, polar conditions during the Pliocene–Pleistocene (Ohneiser et al. 2020). Magnetic fabric in sediments most commonly relates to depositional or post-depositional processes. In oceanic settings, the strength of the magnetic fabric has been linked to changes in ocean circulation strength (Joseph et al. 1998, 2002; Ohneiser and Wilson 2018), whereas, in glacial environments, fabrics have been linked to shearing or compression of sediments from ice advance (Hooyer et al. 2008). At KIS and CIR, we will use magnetic fabric studies to investigate changes in ocean circulation as the WAIS collapsed and recovered, and how circulation strength varied during interglacials. These data will provide key insights into the oceanic response to ice-volume changes or the oceanic controls on ice volume.

Geochemistry: There are numerous geochemical techniques that we can apply to the KIS and CIR cores to address the temperature variability of sub-ice-shelf and ice-proximal environments, biogeochemical cycling of organic matter and Antarctic ice melt history. Paleotemperatures can be reconstructed using clumped isotope paleothermometry (Δ 47); organic geochemical proxies, such as isoprenoid GDGT-based paleothermometry (Kim et al. 2012; Shevenell et al. 2011); the long-chain diol index (Beltran et al. 2020; Rampen et al. 2012); and the alkenone unsaturation ratio (Beltran et al. 2020). Organic geochemical temperature proxies usually reflect upper water column temperatures, whereas clumped isotope measurements reflect bottom water temperatures, allowing investigation of water column structure and salinity change through time (Kotthoff et al. 2017; Levy et al. 2016; Petersen and Schrag 2015).

Total organic carbon / total nitrogen values and stable isotope measurements (δ^{13} C and δ^{15} N) of bulk organic matter are well-established proxies for marine productivity and nutrient cycling. The carbon isotopic signature of specific fatty acids produced by phytoplankton and preserved in sediments are new proxies for open-water productivity, as well as in the marginal sea ice zone, and are useful for understanding carbon-cycle dynamics in the coastal zones around Antarctica (Ashley et al. 2020). In addition, the recently developed nutrient diol index (Gal et al. 2019) has the potential to serve as a quantitative surface nutrient proxy for estimating changes in sea-surface nitrate (or phosphate) concentrations. Furthermore, hydrogen isotope ratios extracted from phytoplankton organic remains reflect a combination of surface-water isotope composition and salinity (Ashley et al. 2020; Feakins et al. 2012; Häggi et al. 2015; Seki et al. 2012), with a high potential to detect meltwater discharge into the ocean.

Lastly, highly branched isoprenoid (HBI) lipids produced by sea ice diatoms and the associated IPSO25 proxy can be used to reconstruct Antarctic sea-ice expansion (Belt et al. 2016; Belt 2019).

2.5.5.5 Ice Sheet and Solid-Earth Feedbacks

To understand syn-rift tectonism and glacio-isostatic adjustment in sea-level and ice-stability feedback, and ice-sheet evolution in general, data on heat flux, thermochronology, clay mineralogy, clast petrology and geochronology should be partnered with structural investigations on cores. Natural and drilling-induced fractures in cores can constrain the ancient tectonic setting, as well as the contemporary stress field within the West Antarctic Rift System (Paulsen et al. 2014; Wilson et al. 2007). Structural features in glacial sediments, such as deformation bands, micro-shear zones or hydrofractures, provides invaluable information on the state of strain, dewatering mechanisms, ice flow and litho-cryosphere interactions (Menzies et al. 2016). Mineralisation in natural fractures (e.g. vein fillings, fault coatings) can give further indications on syntectonic fluid migration and permeability, diagenetic histories and physical properties of the host rock (Millan 2013). Direct and indirect age constraints may derive from dating of syntectonic mineralisations or volcanic horizons, thermochronology modelling or fossil remains preserved in the core. The data will help define strain regimes and their relation to models of rift evolution and denudation of the Transantarctic Mountains and refine time constraints of tectonic and uplift processes (Lisker and Läufer 2013; Paulsen and Wilson 2009; Rossetti et al. 2003).

Modelling studies aim to better understand the role of solid-Earth feedbacks in stabilising the AIS during grounding line retreat, which are needed to make more accurate predictions of sea-level rise. Existing data from the Siple Coast are insufficient to constrain the existing divergent hypotheses regarding Holocene grounding line instability (Kingslake et al. 2018; Lowry et al. 2020). Here, we aim to test these hypotheses using new sedimentological observations and an improved inversion of the thermal profile, combined with a numerical model ensemble to understand solid-Earth/ice coupling during ice-sheet retreat to better characterise Holocene grounding line history. The thermal profile data will be collected via two methods. Internal ice temperature will be measured using a distributed temperature sensing fibre-optic cable (Fisher et al. 2015; Tyler et al. 2013). Downhole formation temperature measurements will be made using a sediment temperature probe attached to the bottom of the core barrel and isolated from drilling fluid circulation via an inflatable packer. These data will be used to develop a 1D model vertical heat flux through the ice rise and underlying sediment, forced by boundary conditions that emulate divergent grounding scenarios.

2.5.5.6 Microbiology

Microbiological investigations will determine the abundance, genetic diversity, evolution and metabolic potential of sub-seafloor microbes by using cell counts, community profiling and metagenomics and cutting-edge biosensor techniques (Fulk et al. 2020; Masiello 2020; Shis et al. 2020). Samples will be taken from freshly cut core surfaces using sterile syringes to collect 5–20 cm³ of sediment, which will be fixed and stored for amplicon profiling and metagenomic studies at home institutions, where the taxonomic composition of microbial communities will be determined by DNA extraction (Alawi et al. 2014; Lever et al. 2015), followed by amplification and sequencing of specific fragments of 16S and 18S rRNA genes using PCR primers (Fonseca et al. 2010; Parada et al. 2016; Sinniger et al. 2016), as well as a new primer-free method to obtain full-length 16S and 18S rRNA sequences (Karst et al. 2018) to identify taxa. Quality trimmed amplicon sequences will be clustered into operational taxonomic units (OTUs) with Swarm (Mahé et al. 2014). We will use metagenomics to gain insight into the diversity and functional potential of the microbial communities by sequencing

DNA extracted from the sediment using whole genome shotgun sequencing. These data will be binned into metagenome-assembled genomes (MAGs) using various binning tools (Albertsen et al. 2013) and then improved using iterative techniques (Albertsen et al. 2013; Parks et al. 2015; Sieber et al. 2018) to reconstruct thousands of MAGs representing the archaea and bacteria. Biosensing is a rapidly emerging field that may be transformative for deep biosphere studies. This technique uses bacteria genetically modified to release an indicator gas (Masiello 2020; Shis et al. 2020) in the presence of a designated metabolite. 100–300 μ L of interstitial water (sampled and frozen at the drill site) as the analyte will be incubated with the biosensor bacteria and analysed with an in-line gas chromatograph-mass spectrometer to monitor gas concentrations. Taken together, these studies will allow us to: (1) identify potentially active community members, (2) assess the taxonomic and functional diversity of the microbial communities across the collected sediments, (3) determine whether microbial communities reflect past or present conditions and (4) identify key processes prevailing in the Ross Sea sediments.

While data from interstitial waters will constrain microbial reactions (D'Hondt et al. 2004), they can also inform sediment geochemistry (Malone et al. 2002) and sub-glacial sediment-water interaction. To address the dearth of water-rock-microbial interaction data from the Antarctic margin, we will analyse bulk sediments, biogenic opal and interstitial water for major and minor element composition and stable isotope tracers (e.g. δ^{18} O, δ^{30} Si, δ^{74} Ge, δ^{56} Fe, Δ 47).

3.0 THE DRILL SITES – REGIONAL CONTEXT AND SITE DETAILS

3.1 Regional Setting

3.1.1 Modern Setting

The Ross Sea Embayment is bordered by the 3500-km-long Transantarctic Mountain chain to the west and Marie Byrd Land and Siple Coast to the east. The modern WAIS is seated within the lower topographic relief of the West Antarctic Rift System (WARS), one of Earth's major continental extension zones extending across Antarctica from the western Ross Sea Embayment to the Antarctic Peninsula and separating West and East Antarctica (Behrendt et al. 1991). Today, West Antarctica contains an ice sheet with the potential to raise sea level by 5 m if it were to completely melt (Fretwell et al. 2013). Most of the WAIS sits on continental crust that lies well below sea level, in places reaching depths well over 2 km (Fretwell et al. 2013; Morlighem et al. 2020). The bed is retrograde across most of West Antarctica, which makes the WAIS highly vulnerable to ocean warming, and marine ice-sheet instability and the marine-based portions of the ice sheet have the potential to contribute 3.6 m to global sea level (Fretwell et al. 2013).

3.1.2 Basement Geology

The best exposed rocks in West Antarctica are in Marie Byrd Land and comprise the Neoproterozoic to Cambrian Swanson Formation, Devonian to mid-Cretaceous magmatic rocks and Cenozoic volcanics (Simões Pereira et al. 2018; Tingey 1991). The Swanson Formation is characterised by zircon U-Pb ages of c. 500-600 Ma and 800-1000 Ma (Pankhurst et al. 1998), with younger intrusion by the Ford Granodiorite (c. 375 Ma) (Korhonen et al. 2010; Pankhurst et al. 1998; Siddoway and Fanning 2009) and the Byrd Coast Granite (95–124 Ma) (Pankhurst et al. 1998; Siddoway 2008). Younger igneous activity in the area is documented along the Ruppert and Hobbs coast (101–110 Ma) (Mukasa and Dalziel 2000) and the Ford Ranges to Edward VII Peninsula (95–120 Ma) (Korhonen et al. 2010; Weaver et al. 1992). During the Cenozoic, starting from ~35 Ma, the region was subjected to intense alkaline volcanism and uplift of the Marie Byrd Land Dome. With an altitude reaching 2700 m today, the Marie Byrd Land Dome is a feature that likely shed sediment southwards into the WARS. Eighteen major volcanoes and many smaller centres are composed of felsic alkaline lavas (Panter et al. 2000). Volcanic centres are suggested to exist under WAIS based on aerogeophyscial surveys (Behrendt et al. 1994, 1996, 2004). Some of the Marie Byrd Land volcanoes have been active during the Pleistocene-Holocene, potentially affecting geothermal heat flow and basal WAIS dynamics (Vries et al. 2017).

Rock exposed along the southern Transarctic Mountains comprise Ross-Orogeny-aged Granite Harbour Intrusives (485–545 Ma) (Goodge et al. 2012; Paulsen et al. 2013). Post-Ross-Orogeny exhumation and erosion of the granitic and metamorphic basement provided Kukri Peneplain, upon which the clastic Beacon Supergroup was deposited. This sequence was intruded by Ferrar Dolerite at c. 180 Ma (Licht et al. 2014). The Whitmore Mountains afford another potential source for sediments into West Antarctica and may have contributed sedimentary rocks, 500–550 Ma (Flowerdew et al. 2007), and granites ~200 Ma (Craddock et al. 2017). Rock sources inland of the southern Transantarctic Mountains are poorly-known, as they are covered by the EAIS (Palmer et al. 2012). Late Cenozoic volcanics in the western Ross Sea region comprise the McMurdo Volcanic Group, part of the Erebus Volcanic Province (Kyle 1990), which range in age from ~19 Ma to present. Drill-core evidence extends the volcanic record in the western Ross Sea back to 26 Ma (Barrett et al. 1987; Di Vincenzo et al. 2009; Gamble et al. 1986; McIntosh 1998, 2000).

3.1.3 Sedimentary Basins

Sedimentary basins on the mid- to outer continental shelf have been sampled previously and contain sedimentary rocks dating to the late Eocene (Barrett et al. 1989; Davey et al. 2001; Kulhanek et al. 2019; Levy et al. 2000a, 2000b; McKay et al. 2019; Naish et al. 2001). Re-worked palynomorphs in surface samples collected across the Ross Sea indicate terrestrial sedimentary rocks dating to the Cretaceous were deposited in West Antarctica (Truswell and Drewry 1984). However, as yet, no in situ samples have been collected from the West Antarctic interior. The only direct evidence for the age and character of Cenozoic sedimentary sequences in sub-glacial basins beneath the WAIS is provided by the presence of marine and terrestrial microfossils in samples of eroded and re-deposited mixed sub-glacial sediments collected by sediment cores in the Siple Coast region (Coenen et al. 2020; Harwood et al. 1989a; Scherer 1991b; Scherer et al. 1988). Microfossil occurrences are of three types: (1) within pebble-size sedimentary clasts of coherent marine sediment, (2) within small micro-clast aggregates of microfossils and (3) as dispersed microfossils within the sedimentary matrix of diamicton. The small size, high abundance and rapid evolution of marine diatoms make them ideal to identify times of past WAIS retreat and marine sedimentation across West Antarctica. For example, microfossil biostratigraphy, especially the record of marine diatoms, is sufficiently well advanced to date discrete events when marine seas covered parts of West Antarctica and marine sediments were deposited. The source material for these mixed and displaced microfossil assemblages point to extensive marine deposits in West Antarctica. The lateral extent of the marine sediment basin fill would have been controlled initially by local rifted basin geography and followed by regional subsidence, both associated with evolution of the WARS (Behrendt et al. 1991; Paxman et al. 2019).

3.2 Drill Sites

3.2.1 Regional Correlation

Whereas a relatively extensive seismic reflection network exists around the Antarctic margin and across the Ross Sea region, these marine data cannot be directly correlated to our proposed sub-glacial drill sites, as over-ice/land-based surveys are logistically challenging and relevant data do not exist. However, we postulate that sedimentary sequences recovered in the ANDRILL cores (Levy et al. 2016; Naish et al. 2009) and from the central Ross Sea (Hayes et al. 1975a, 1975b; McKay et al. 2019) extend south beneath the Ross Ice Shelf and WAIS (Figure 3.1). This hypothesis is based on the character of the seismic sequences we have imaged at the proposed drill sites, including a regionally extensive seismic reflector – Horizon D, which likely separates Neogene and Quaternary strata – and on re-worked late Neogene and Quaternary diatoms recovered in sub-glacial sediments at CIR, Upstream B, Whillans Ice Stream and KIS.





Figure 3.1 Regional stratigraphic correlation schematic. Blue dashed line = approximate location of crosssection. D = Horizon D.

We expect that Quaternary sediments will be intersected at the KIS site but that this package is missing at the CIR site and only a Holocene sediment package is preserved there. This interpretation is based on the absence of Horizon D at CIR, the occurrence of an acoustic package at CIR with clear polarity reversals and dipping reflectors and the absence of re-worked Quaternary diatoms in surface sediments at CIR and RISP-J9 near the CIR-1 site. We expect that these dipping strata are late Neogene or older. We suggest that drilling at KIS-1 and CIR-1 will provide a composite stratigraphy spanning the Miocene to Quaternary. Drilling is required to test/confirm this regional correlation model.

3.2.2 Kamb Ice Stream

The KIS drill site is located ~16 km seawards of the grounding zone and more than 600 km along-flow south of the ice-shelf front and Ross Sea. KIS has been stagnant for the past ~150 years (Catania et al. 2006; Retzlaff and Bentley 2017) and offers a rare opportunity to drill a modern ice stream environment from a stable drilling platform, allowing the time needed to reach a 200 mbsf drilling target. Three seasons of over-snow geophysics and one subice-shelf direct-access programme have been used to characterise the KIS site. Geophysical surveying included over 70 km of multichannel seismic, more than 400 km of radio echo sounding, a regional gravity survey and continuous Global Navigation Satellite Surveying observations (Figure 3.2). Hot water drilling through 587 m of ice shelf into a 30-m-thick sub-ice cavity was completed in December 2019 at a location 15 km from the KIS drill site. This proved the capability of the hot water drilling system. A gravity corer was deployed through the hot water drill hole and recovered several short sediment cores up to 0.6 m in length of a sequence comprised of an unconsolidated diamict (Figure 3.3). A geothermal probe was deployed and penetrated 1.7 m below the seafloor, indicating that the upper several metres of sediment (at least) are unconsolidated. The NASA Icefin ROV was deployed and collected imagery from the sea floor and base of the ice shelf (Figure 3.4). Telemetered oceanographic data from a mooring left in the ocean cavity upon completion of the field programme show that ocean currents are tidally driven (biomodal in direction), with flow in the upper and low parts of the water column moving in opposite directions ('estuarine flow'). Importantly, current speeds rarely exceed 15 cm/s and are typically <10 cm/s.





Figure 3.2 Fence diagram of available seismic data across the region around the KIS Drill Site. Correlation lines highlight the base of the ice shelf (blue line), sea floor (green line) and regional extent of Horizon Unit K-1 sits above Horizon D and Unit K-2 sits below.

Over snow seismic data imaged a shallow water column (0—60 m) overlying a generally smooth sea floor throughout the survey area. Beneath the sea floor the upper unit (Unit K-1) (Figure 3.5) is characterised by generally homogenous low amplitude internal-reflectivity with occasional higher amplitude horizontal to sub-horizontal internal reflectivity. The unit appears undeformed by tectonics and ice sheet modelling experiments suggest negligible glacial erosion at the site.

Seismic amplitude analysis supports a sedimentary interpretation with estimated bulk densities of \leq 2000 kg m⁻³ and compressional wave (V_p) velocities \leq 2000 m s⁻¹ within the top 20 m (one seismic wavelength at 100 Hz) beneath the seafloor (van Haastrecht 2020). Internal reflectivity, which is most easily identified in the portion of the survey beneath grounded ice (due to the low impedance contrast at the sub-glacial interface) (Figure 3.5) suggests that the unit comprises layered sediments. Where similar units have been imaged in the Ross Sea, drilling has recovered interbedded diatom ooze, muds and sandy muds, diamictite, diatombearing/rich mudstone, and diatomite. These deposits, which are interpreted as cycles of sub-glacial, glaciomarine and open-marine sedimentation (McKay et al. 2019) are seismically imaged as a relatively homogenous unit due to the low impedance contrast between lithofacies. Elsewhere on the Siple Coast, active source seismic data from Whillans Ice Stream (Horgan et al. 2013; Luthra et al. 2016) demonstrate a pattern of sedimentation like that imaged in the KIS surveys. Deposition of Unit K-1 is likely to have occurred in accommodation space within the ocean cavity at the grounding zone or beneath the ice shelf. We anticipate that Unit K-1 is Pleistocene, based on the presence of re-worked Neogene and Pleistocene diatoms recovered in surface sediments upstream of the drill site (Figure 3.6). The lower boundary of Unit K-1 is a high-amplitude positive-polarity reflector (Horizon D) at 130-180 m below sea floor (at 2000 m s⁻¹) that is best imaged beneath grounded ice (Figure 3.5) but is easily identified throughout the survey region (Figure 3.2). Reflectivity within the overlying unit is generally disconformable with Horizon D, and a reflection event with similar characteristics is also imaged beneath the adjacent Whillans Ice Stream (Horgan et al. 2013; Luthra et al. 2016). The polarity and amplitude of Horizon D suggests that the upper sedimentary unit is underlain by more lithified sediment. Horizon D is further characterised by a package of underlying reflectors (Unit K-2), which supports our interpretation that Horizon D is erosional and may reflect initiation of a more extensive and persistent WAIS, potentially coinciding with the M2 glaciation event recorded at AND-2A (McKay et al. 2012a).



Figure 3.3 Stratigraphic comparison for four sediment cores collected from beneath the Ross Ice shelf, compared to the generic ice shelf retreat model of Smith et al. (2019). Based on the lithology, stratigraphy, degree of compaction and microfossil content, we are confident that all cores contain a post-LGM ice-shelf retreat facies sequence.



Figure 3.4 Sediment sample and seafloor images at Kamb Ice Stream grounding zone. (A) Sediment recovered from the outside of the gravity corer barrel at KIS-1. Core tube is 6.3 cm in diameter. Screen capture from Icefin ROV videos of: (B) unconsolidated diamict sediment near the KIS-1 site. The green 'dots' at the bottom of the image are points from a laser scale and are 5 cm apart; (C) sediment in the base of the ice shelf near the KIS site; and (D) rippled, unconsolidated sandy-mud with rare dropstones near the KIS site.



Figure 3.5 Seismic line KIS 1516_1, un-interpreted (top) and interpreted (bottom). Arrows indicate areas of higher-amplitude horizontal to sub-horizontal internal reflectivity, which are best imaged below grounded ice. We expect that these layers extend throughout Unit K-1 but are not imaged as well below floating ice. Horizon D is a regional reflector that separates the upper Unit K-1 (Quaternary) from older sediments in Unit K-2 (Late Neogene).





Figure 3.6 Seismic line KIS1920_3 (see inset for location). KIS drill site is located on the crossing point with line KIS1920_2X. Drilling prognosis at left with estimated depths from surface and stratigraphic intervals. Thick red line = 200 m drilling target depth.

3.2.3 Crary Ice Rise

CIR is an area of grounded ice frozen at the bed within the Ross Ice Shelf. Borehole temperature measurements estimate that this ice rise stabilised ~1400 AD (Bindschadler et al. 1990; Catania et al. 2012). This site also offers a stable drilling platform due to the slow flowing over-riding ice. Our CIR site also has the advantage of being close to the South Pole Over-ice Traverse (SPOT) route.

Hot water drilling in the 1980s at CIR recovered Miocene diatom-bearing marine sediment from the base of the ice (Scherer and Tulaczyk 1998; Scherer et al. 1988), consistent with gravity core sediment recovered during the Ross Ice Shelf Project (RISP) at Site J-9 (Harwood et al. 1989a) and implying episodic open water conditions. Pliocene taxa, also identified at CIR, were inferred to have been deposited in interior West Antarctic basins during warm periods but transported to the ice rise during subsequent WAIS expansion (Scherer 1991b).

Geophysical surveying at CIR collected over 15 km of seismic data that are interpreted to include a Holocene grounding zone wedge deposit overlying gently dipping strata (Figure 3.7). Acoustic basement is unconformably overlain by several hundred metres of stratified and lithified sediment (Unit C-2) characterised by velocities \leq 2400 m s⁻¹. A wedge-shaped sequence (Unit C-1) occurs above regional disconformity (Horizon H) and is characterised by discontinuous (chaotic) reflectors and velocities \leq 2200 m s⁻¹. We interpret this unit as a Holocene Grounding Zone Wedge. Although the age of Unit C-2 is unknown, we suggest that the gently dipping layers represent glacial to interglacial cycles comprising glacial till and open marine strata deposited during the mid- to late Neogene (Figure 3.8).



Figure 3.7 Fence diagram of available seismic data across the region around the Crary Ice Rise (CIR) drill site.





Figure 3.8 Seismic line CIR_T (see inset for location). CIR drill site is located on the crossing point with line CIR-L. Drilling prognosis at left, with estimated depths from surface and stratigraphic intervals. Thick red line = 200 m drilling target depth.

4.0 SCIENCE TEAM

An open call for interest and participation in the SWAIS 2C Project was made at a Past Antarctic Ice Sheet Dynamics workshop at the XIII International Symposium on Antarctic Earth Sciences in Incheon, Korea, in July 2019. Following an introduction to the proposed drilling, interested individuals were invited to participate in planning sessions during the workshop. From this, we identified lead science team members from partner nations, who subsequently helped to develop proposals for drilling at the international and national levels. Science team participation is approximately based on the percentage contribution from each partner nation to the total drilling and logistics costs. Most nations have run an internal process to identify science team members. Table 4.1 shows the current the list of people from which we will draw for each field season. We note that some nations partner nations, e.g. the United Kingdom, are still completing their selection process, and staffing will not be finalised until these selection processes are complete. We also note that this list is not comprehensive, and additional scientists may join the science teams during planning and later stages of each project.

	CONTRIBUTION to Operations	SCIENTIFIC DISCIPLINES*						
		CORE DESCRIPTION	CHI CHEMOSTRATIGRAPHY* *	RONOSTRATIGRAPH BIOSTRATIGRAPHY	Y PALEOMAGNETISM	GEOCHEMISTRY & MICROBIOLOGY	CORE & DOWNHOLE LOGGING	GEOPHYSICS & MODELING
NATION lead Pl	bold = committed plain = pending c = cash ik = in kind	cp = clast petrology cm = clay minerals f = fractures ss = sed/strat v = volcaniclastics	C14 = radiocarbon cn = cosmogenic nuclides is = isotopes t = tephrochronology	C = CONOP d = diatom p = palynology r = radiolaria		in = inorganic m = microbiology o = organic pr = provenance T = thermochronology	pp = physical properties x = XRF scanning l = downhole logging	gp = geophysics gl = glaciology g = GIA c = climate i = ice sheet
UNITED STATES* Molly Patterson	20% c + ik	Molly Patterson ^{1,ss}	Ryan Venturelli ^{(PDR)C14}	Jason Coenen ^{(PDR)d} David Harwood ^{†,d} Amy Leventer ^{†,d}		Jeanine Ash ^{+,m,in} Justin Dodd ⁱⁿ	Denise Kulhanek ^{2,x,in}	Jacky Austermann ^g Rob DeConto ^{c,i} Jonny Kingslake ^{gl} Paul Winberry ^{gp}
NEW ZEALAND Richard Levy	20-30% c + ik	Tim Naish^{†,ss} Rob McKay ^{ss}		Richard Levy ^{1,C} <i>Joe Prebble ^p</i> Giuseppe Cortese ^r	Christian Ohneiser	Catherine Beltran^o Craig Cary ^m Bella Duncan ^{(PDR)o}	Gavin Dunbar ^{†,pp,ss}	Nick Golledge ⁱ Huw Horgan^{†,gp} Liz Keller ^c Dan Lowry ^{(PDR)i}
GERMANY Andreas Läufer	10% c	Johann Klages ^{ss} Nikola Koglin ^{cp} Andreas Läufer ^{†,f}				Frank Lisker ^T Juliane Müller ^o	Thomas Wonik ⁱ	Olaf Eisen ^{gi} Karsten Gohl ^{gp} Gerrit Lohmann ^c
KOREA Kyu-Cheul Yoo	10% c	Kyu-Cheul Yoo^{†,ss} Kiho Yang ^{cm}				<i>Sunghan Kimⁱⁿ</i> Jung-Hyun Kim ^o Jae II Lee ^{pr}		
JAPAN Yoshifumi Nogi	5-10% c		Yusuke Suganuma ^{cn}			Osamu Seki ^{†,o}		
ITALY Fabio Florindo	10% c	Ester Colizza ^{ss} Laura Crispini ^f Paola Del Carlo ^v Sonia Sandroni^{†,cp}	Alessio Di Roberto ^t		Fabio Florindo [†]			Florence Colleoni ^{c,i}
NETHERLANDS Paolo Stocchi	5% с			Francesca Sangiorgi ^p		Pierre Offre ^m Anja Sprang ^{†, m}		Paolo Stocchi ^g
SPAIN Francis Jimenez- Espeio	5% c		Jose-Abel Flores ^{is}				Francis Jimenez- Espejo ^{†,x,in}	
UNITED KINGDOM Tina van der Flierdt	10-15% c					Tina van der Flierdt ^{†,in,pr}		Ed Gasson [']
AUSTRALIA Sarah Kachovich	5% c			Linda Armbrecht ^d Rebecca Parker ^d				
1 = Co-Chief 2 = Staff Scientist † = Theme Leader PDR = Post-Doctoral Researcher bold = Discipline Leader <i>italics = early career researcher</i> *Some scientists will participate both seasons; others will participate one season to fulfill national quotas. **Chemostratigraphy scientists will be assigned to other lab groups (e.g. core description, core logging) for the core description workshop.								

 Table 4.1
 SWAIS 2C Science Team members by country and scientific discipline.

5.0 PROJECT MANAGEMENT AND IMPLEMENTATION PLAN

5.1 Overview

We will draw on the project management approach and experience that our team members have gained through involvement in previous international drilling projects (Figure 5.1). We will also implement the formal project management operating model that is used at GNS Science. Our project structure includes a Governance Group, Operations Group and Science Group. The Governance Group will include representatives from project funders (including ICDP), the Director of the Antarctic Research Centre at Victoria University of Wellington (who employs the drilling team) and the General Manager Antarctic Operations, Antarctica New Zealand (ANZ: New Zealand's national programme responsible for Antarctic field logistics and operations). The Project Leads (Chief Scientists) will manage and lead both the Drilling/Field Operations and the Science Operations Groups, reporting regularly to the Governance Group on progress and raising any issues that may impact the project. The Project Leads will be supported by the GNS Science Project Management Office. The Drilling/Field Operations Group is led by the ANZ Field Support Project Manager, ANZ Traverse Manager and Drill Operations Manager, who will work together to ensure that all aspects of the drilling and field operations are planned and implemented. The Drill Operations Manager leads the Hot Water and sediment coring team. The ANZ Field Support Project Manager leads the camp operations team and coordinates air logistics. The ANZ Traverse Manager leads the traverse team. The Science Operations Group is led by the Chief Scientists with support from the Staff Scientist, Core/Data Manager and Science Theme Leaders, who comprise the SWAIS 2C Science Leadership Team (SSLT), which is ultimately responsible for delivering the scientific components and outcomes of the project. A Science Advisory Group and Technical Advisory Group will be available to the SSLT to provide advice and recommendations when needed.



Figure 5.1 Project Management structure.

5.2 Sample and Data Management and Publication

The SWAIS 2C Science Leadership Team will work together with the ANZ Data Manager to ensure that sound data management practices are in place. Appropriate team members will attend the ICDP data and sample management workshop prior to the start of the first drilling season. We will use the ICDP mobile Drilling Information System (mDIS), which provides a database for recording data collected and samples taken, during the drilling operations and core description phases of the drilling projects. This mDIS also facilitates depth matching to synchronise data collected on different depth regimes and integrate downhole measurement data. Primary project data are initially archived on the ICDP server and accessed via password by science team members. These data will ultimately be published via an online data repository. New data collected by individual scientists will initially be stored on their own computers and/or institutional servers and backed up regularly. We will establish a project Google drive for sharing of these data during the home institution research phase of the drilling project prior to publication.

All project metadata will be archived in the ANZ data repository, the Antarctica Master Directory and the United States Antarctic Program Data Center. Final datasets will be published via an online data repository (ICDP, Pangaea or Zenodo). The latter allows storage of individual file sizes up to 50 GB, which will be required for CT and hyperspectral data.

Project data will be under moratorium for two years following completion of the core description workshop. Those data will be stored on the ICDP server, where they will remain password-protected until the end of the moratorium. Science Team members will also be required to deposit their data in the repository upon acceptance of their work in a journal or book. Data deposited in the repository will be assigned a digital object identifier (DOI) that can be linked to published manuscripts. Data will be made available for open access via a Creative Commons license.

All Science Team members must submit a research plan and sample request to access samples. During the moratorium, only approved Science Team members will have access to samples. At the end of moratorium, sample access will be co-ordinated by the curator at the Oregon State University Marine and Geology Repository, where the cores will be archived. All Science Team members also incur an obligation to conduct research using samples or data received based on their research plan. To fulfil this obligation, they must submit manuscripts to a peer-reviewed English language journal or book within 24 months after the end of the moratorium.

6.0 ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

RL, TN, HH, GD, AP, DM, CO, DT and RK acknowledge funding support from the New Zealand Ministry of Business, Innovation & Employment through the Antarctic Science Platform contract (ANTA1801) Antarctic Ice Dynamics Project (ASP-021-01). CIR seismic data collection was supported by US NSF grant 1443552 to PW, Howard Conway, and Michelle Koutnik. MP, DK and DH acknowledge funding support by US NSF grant 2035035.

7.0 REFERENCES

- Achberger, A.M., Michaud, A.B., Vick-Majors, T.J., Christner, B.C., Skidmore, M.L., Priscu, J.C., Tranter, M., 2017. Microbiology of subglacial environments, Psychrophiles: From biodiversity to biotechnology. Springer, pp. 83-110.
- Alawi, M., Schneider, B., Kallmeyer, J., 2014. A procedure for separate recovery of extra-and intracellular DNA from a single marine sediment sample. Journal of microbiological methods 104, 36-42.
- Albertsen, M., Hugenholtz, P., Skarshewski, A., Nielsen, K.L., Tyson, G.W., Nielsen, P.H., 2013. Genome sequences of rare, uncultured bacteria obtained by differential coverage binning of multiple metagenomes. Nature biotechnology 31, 533-538.
- Alley, R.B., 1989. Water-pressure coupling of sliding and bed deformation; I, Water system. Journal of Glaciology 35, 108-118.
- Anderson, J.B., Brake, C.F., Myers, N.C., Bornhold, B.D.e., Guilcher, A.e., 1984. Sedimentation on the Ross Sea continental shelf, Antarctica Sedimentation on high-latitude continental shelves. Marine Geology 57, 295-333.
- Armand, L., Ferry, A., Leventer, A., 2017. Advances in palaeo sea ice estimation, Sea ice. John Wiley & Sons Ltd Chichester, pp. 600-629.
- Ash, J.L., Franca, A., Biddle, J., Giovannelli, D., Singh, S.M., Martinez-Mendez, G., Müller, J.,
 Mollenhauer, G., Hefter, J., 2019. Microbial Sediment Community Changes from the Last
 Glacial Maximum to Modern beneath the Ross Sea, AGU Fall Meeting 2019. AGU.
- Ashley, K., Bendle, J., Crosta, X., Etourneau, J., Campagne, P., Gilchrist, H., Ibraheem, U., Greene, S., Schmidt, S., Eley, Y., Massé, G., 2020. Fatty acid carbon isotopes: a new indicator of marine Antarctic paleoproductivity? Biogeosciences Discuss. 2020, 1-26.
- Austermann, J., Mitrovica, J.X., Huybers, P., Rovere, A., 2017. Detection of a dynamic topography signal in last interglacial sea-level records. Science Advances 3.
- Bamber, J.L., Oppenheimer, M., Kopp, R.E., Aspinall, W.P., Cooke, R.M., 2019. Ice sheet contributions to future sea-level rise from structured expert judgment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 116, 11195-11200.
- Bamber, J.L., Westaway, R.M., Marzeion, B., Wouters, B., 2018. The land ice contribution to sea level during the satellite era. Environmental Research Letters 13, 063008.
- Barrett, P.J., Elston, D.P., Harwood, D.M., McKelvey, B.C., Webb, P.N., 1987. Mid-Cenozoic record of glaciation and sea-level change on the margin of the Victoria Land basin, Antarctica. Geology 15, 634-637.
- Barrett, P.J., Hambrey, M.J., Harwood, D.M., Pyne, A.R., Webb, P.N., 1989. Synthesis, in: Barrett, P.J. (Ed.), Antarctic Cenozoic History from the CIROS-1 Drillhole, McMurdo Sound, DSIR Bulletin. DSIR Publishing, Wellington, pp. 241-251.

- Behrendt, J.C., LeMasurier, W.E., Cooper, A.K., Tessensohn, F., Trehu, A., Damaske, D., 1991. The West Antarctic Rift System: A review of geophysical investigations, in: Elliot, D.H. (Ed.), Contributions to Antarctic Research II. AGU, Washington, D. C., pp. 67-112.
- Behrendt, J.C., Blankenship, D.D., Finn, C.A., Bell, R.E., Sweeney, R.E., Hodge, S.M., Brozena, J.M., 1994. CASERTZ aeromagnetic data reveal late Cenozoic flood basalts(?) in the West Antarctic rift system. Geology 22, 527-530.
- Behrendt, J.C., Saltus, R., Damaske, D., McCafferty, A.E., Finn, C.A., Blankenship, D., Bell, R.E.,
 1996. Patterns of late Cenozoic volcanic and tectonic activity in the West Antarctic rift system revealed by aeromagnetic surveys. Tectonics 15, 660-676.
- Behrendt, J.C., Blankenship, D.D., Morse, D.L., Bell, R.E., James, T.S.e., Jacka, T.H.e., Morelli, A.e., Dietrich, R.e., 2004. Shallow-source aeromagnetic anomalies observed over the West Antarctic ice sheet compared with coincident bed topography from radar ice sounding; new evidence for glacial "removal" of subglacially erupted late Cenozoic rift-related volcanic edifices Ice sheets and neotectonics. Global and Planetary Change 42, 177-193.
- Belt, S., Smik, L., Brown, T., Kim, J.-H., Rowland, S., Allen, C., Gal, J.-K., Shin, K.-H., Lee, J., Taylor, K., 2016. Source identification and distribution reveals the potential of the geochemical Antarctic sea ice proxy IPSO 25. Nature communications 7, 1-10.
- Belt, S.T., 2019. What do IP25 and related biomarkers really reveal about sea ice change? Quaternary Science Reviews 204, 216-219.
- Beltran, C., Golledge, N.R., Ohneiser, C., Kowalewski, D.E., Sicre, M.-A., Hageman, K.J., Smith, R., Wilson, G.S., Mainié, F., 2020. Southern Ocean temperature records and ice-sheet models demonstrate rapid Antarctic ice sheet retreat under low atmospheric CO2 during Marine Isotope Stage 31. Quaternary Science Reviews 228, 106069.
- Bentley, M.J., Ó Cofaigh, C., Anderson, J.B., Conway, H., Davies, B., Graham, A.G.C., Hillenbrand, C.-D., Hodgson, D.A., Jamieson, S.S.R., Larter, R.D., Mackintosh, A., Smith, J.A., Verleyen, E., Ackert, R.P., Bart, P.J., Berg, S., Brunstein, D., Canals, M., Colhoun, E.A., Crosta, X., Dickens, W.A., Domack, E., Dowdeswell, J.A., Dunbar, R., Ehrmann, W., Evans, J., Favier, V., Fink, D., Fogwill, C.J., Glasser, N.F., Gohl, K., Golledge, N.R., Goodwin, I., Gore, D.B., Greenwood, S.L., Hall, B.L., Hall, K., Hedding, D.W., Hein, A.S., Hocking, E.P., Jakobsson, M., Johnson, J.S., Jomelli, V., Jones, R.S., Klages, J.P., Kristoffersen, Y., Kuhn, G., Leventer, A., Licht, K., Lilly, K., Lindow, J., Livingstone, S.J., Massé, G., McGlone, M.S., McKay, R.M., Melles, M., Miura, H., Mulvaney, R., Nel, W., Nitsche, F.O., O'Brien, P.E., Post, A.L., Roberts, S.J., Saunders, K.M., Selkirk, P.M., Simms, A.R., Spiegel, C., Stolldorf, T.D., Sugden, D.E., van der Putten, N., van Ommen, T., Verfaillie, D., Vyverman, W., Wagner, B., White, D.A., Witus, A.E., Zwartz, D., 2014. A community-based geological reconstruction of Antarctic Ice Sheet deglaciation since the Last Glacial Maximum. Quaternary Science Reviews 100, 1-9.
- Berends, C.J., de Boer, B., Dolan, A.M., Hill, D.J., van de Wal, R.S.W., 2019. Modelling ice sheet evolution and atmospheric CO2 during the Late Pliocene. Clim. Past 15, 1603-1619.
- Bertram, R.A., Wilson, D.J., van de Flierdt, T., McKay, R.M., Patterson, M.O., Jimenez-Espejo, F.J., Escutia, C., Duke, G.C., Taylor-Silva, B.I., Riesselman, C.R., 2018. Pliocene deglacial event timelines and the biogeochemical response offshore Wilkes Subglacial Basin, East Antarctica. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 494, 109-116.
- Bierman, P.R., Shakun, J.D., Corbett, L.B., Zimmerman, S.R., Rood, D.H., 2016. A persistent and dynamic East Greenland Ice Sheet over the past 7.5 million years. Nature 540, 256-260.
- Bijl, P.K., Sluijs, A., Brinkhuis, H., 2013. A magneto- and chemostratigraphically calibrated dinoflagellate cyst zonation of the early Palaeogene South Pacific Ocean. Earth-Science Reviews 124, 1-31.

- Bindschadler, R.A., Roberts, E.P., Iken, A., 1990. Age of Crary Ice Rise, Antarctica, Determined from Temperature-Depth Profiles. Annals of Glaciology 14, 13-16.
- Blackburn, T., Edwards, G.H., Tulaczyk, S., Scudder, M., Piccione, G., Hallet, B., McLean, N., Zachos, J.C., Cheney, B., Babbe, J.T., 2020. Ice retreat in Wilkes Basin of East Antarctica during a warm interglacial. Nature 583, 554-559.
- Brachfeld, S., Pinzon, J., Darley, J., Sagnotti, L., Kuhn, G., Florindo, F., Wilson, G., Ohneiser, C., Monien, D., Joseph, L., 2013. Iron oxide tracers of ice sheet extent and sediment provenance in the ANDRILL AND-1B drill core, Ross Sea, Antarctica. Global and Planetary Change 110, Part C, 420-433.
- Bradley, S.L., Hindmarsh, R.C., Whitehouse, P.L., Bentley, M.J., King, M.A., 2015. Low post-glacial rebound rates in the Weddell Sea due to Late Holocene ice-sheet readvance. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 413, 79-89.
- Brigham-Grette, J., Melles, M., Minyuk, P., Andreev, A., Tarasov, P., DeConto, R., Koenig, S.,
 Nowaczyk, N., Wennrich, V., Rosén, P., Haltia, E., Cook, T., Gebhardt, C., Meyer-Jacob, C.,
 Snyder, J., Herzschuh, U., 2013. Pliocene Warmth, Polar Amplification, and Stepped
 Pleistocene Cooling Recorded in NE Arctic Russia. Science 340, 1421-1427.
- Bulthuis, K., Arnst, M., Sun, S., Pattyn, F., 2019. Uncertainty quantification of the multi-centennial response of the Antarctic ice sheet to climate change. The Cryosphere 13, 1349-1380.
- Carr, S.A., Vogel, S.W., Dunbar, R.B., Brandes, J., Spear, J.R., Levy, R., Naish, T.R., Powell, R.D., Wakeham, S.G., Mandernack, K.W., 2013. Bacterial abundance and composition in marine sediments beneath the Ross Ice Shelf, Antarctica. Geobiology 11, 377-395.
- Catania, G., Hulbe, C., Conway, H., Scambos, T.A., Raymond, C., 2012. Variability in the mass flux of the Ross ice streams, West Antarctica, over the last millennium. Journal of Glaciology 58, 741-752.
- Catania, G.A., Scambos, T.A., Conway, H., Raymond, C.F., 2006. Sequential stagnation of Kamb Ice Stream, West Antarctica. Geophysical Research Letters 33.
- Channell, J., Lanci, L., 2014. Oligocene–Miocene relative (geomagnetic) paleointensity correlated from the equatorial Pacific (IODP Site U1334 and ODP Site 1218) to the South Atlantic (ODP Site 1090). Earth and Planetary Science Letters 387, 77-88.
- Channell, J., Xuan, C., Hodell, D., 2009. Stacking paleointensity and oxygen isotope data for the last 1.5 Myr (PISO-1500). Earth and Planetary Science Letters 283, 14-23.
- Christensen, B., Jaeger, J., Biddle, J., Burberry, C., Christeson, G., Harris, R., Reagan, M., Robinson, R., Sylvan, J.B., Thomas, D., 2017. Joides Resolution Assessment Report. IODP Workshop Reports.
- Christner, B.C., Priscu, J.C., Achberger, A.M., Barbante, C., Carter, S.P., Christianson, K., Michaud, A.B., Mikucki, J.A., Mitchell, A.C., Skidmore, M.L., 2014. A microbial ecosystem beneath the West Antarctic ice sheet. Nature 512, 310-313.
- Clark, P.U., He, F., Golledge, N.R., Mitrovica, J.X., Dutton, A., Hoffman, J.S., Dendy, S., 2020. Oceanic forcing of penultimate deglacial and last interglacial sea-level rise. Nature 577, 660-664.
- Clark, P.U., Mitrovica, J.X., Milne, G.A., Tamisiea, M.E., 2002. Sea-level fingerprinting as a direct test for the source of global meltwater pulse IA. Science 295, 2438-2441.
- Clowes, C.D., Hannah, M.J., Wilson, G.J., Wrenn, J.H., 2016. Marine palynostratigraphy and new species from the Cape Roberts drill-holes, Victoria land basin, Antarctica. Marine Micropaleontology 126, 65-84.

- Cody, R., Levy, R., Crampton, J., Naish, T., Wilson, G., Harwood, D., 2012. Selection and stability of quantitative stratigraphic age models: Plio-Pleistocene glaciomarine sediments in the ANDRILL 1B drillcore, McMurdo Ice Shelf. Global and Planetary Change 96–97, 143-156.
- Cody, R.D., Levy, R.H., Harwood, D.M., Sadler, P.M., 2008. Thinking outside the zone: Highresolution quantitative diatom biochronology for the Antarctic Neogene. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology and Palaeoecology 260, 92-121.
- Coenen, J., Scherer, R., Baudoin, P., Warny, S., Castañeda, I., Askin, R., 2020. Paleogene marine and terrestrial development of the West Antarctic Rift System. Geophysical Research Letters 47, e2019GL085281.
- Collins, L.G., Hounslow, M.W., Allen, C.S., Hodgson, D.A., Pike, J., Karloukovski, V.V., 2012. Palaeomagnetic and biostratigraphic dating of marine sediments from the Scotia Sea, Antarctica: First identification of the Laschamp excursion in the Southern Ocean. Quaternary Geochronology 7, 67-75.
- Conway, H., Catania, G., Raymond, C.F., Gades, A.M., Scambos, T.A., Engelhardt, H., 2002. Switch of flow direction in an Antarctic ice stream. Nature 419, 465-467.
- Conway, H., Hall, B.L., Denton, G.H., Gades, A.M., Waddington, E.D., 1999. Past and future grounding-line retreat of the West Antarctic ice sheet. Science 286, 280-283.
- Cook, C.P., Hill, D.J., van de Flierdt, T., Williams, T., Hemming, S.R., Dolan, A.M., Pierce, E.L., Escutia, C., Harwood, D., Cortese, G., Gonzales, J.J., 2014. Sea surface temperature control on the distribution of far-traveled Southern Ocean ice-rafted detritus during the Pliocene. Paleoceanography 29, 533-548.
- Cook, C.P., van de Flierdt, T., Williams, T., Hemming, S.R., Iwai, M., Kobayashi, M., Jimenez-Espejo, F.J., Escutia, C., Gonzalez, J.J., Khim, B.-K., McKay, R.M., Passchier, S., Bohaty, S.M., Riesselman, C.R., Tauxe, L., Sugisaki, S., Galindo, A.L., Patterson, M.O., Sangiorgi, F., Pierce, E.L., Brinkhuis, H., Klaus, A., Fehr, A., Bendle, J.A.P., Bijl, P.K., Carr, S.A., Dunbar, R.B., Flores, J.A., Hayden, T.G., Katsuki, K., Kong, G.S., Nakai, M., Olney, M.P., Pekar, S.F., Pross, J., Rohl, U., Sakai, T., Shrivastava, P.K., Stickley, C.E., Tuo, S., Welsh, K., Yamane, M., 2013. Dynamic behaviour of the East Antarctic ice sheet during Pliocene warmth. Nature Geoscience 6, 765-769.
- Craddock, J.P., Schmitz, M.D., Crowley, J.L., Larocque, J., Pankhurst, R.J., Juda, N., Konstantinou, A., Storey, B., 2017. Precise U-Pb zircon ages and geochemistry of Jurassic granites, Ellsworth-Whitmore terrane, central Antarctica. GSA Bulletin 129, 118-136.
- D'Hondt, S., Jørgensen, B.B., Miller, D.J., Batzke, A., Blake, R., Cragg, B.A., Cypionka, H., Dickens, G.R., Ferdelman, T., Hinrichs, K.-U., Holm, N.G., Mitterer, R., Spivack, A., Wang, G., Bekins, B., Engelen, B., Ford, K., Gettemy, G., Rutherford, S.D., Sass, H., Skilbeck, C.G., Aiello, I.W., Guèrin, G., House, C.H., Inagaki, F., Meister, P., Naehr, T., Niitsuma, S., Parkes, R.J., Schippers, A., Smith, D.C., Teske, A., Wiegel, J., Padilla, C.N., Acosta, J.L.S., 2004.
 Distributions of Microbial Activities in Deep Subseafloor Sediments. Science 306, 2216-2221.
- Davey, F.J., Barrett, P.J., Cita, M.B., van der Meer, J.J.M., Tessensohn, F., Thomson, M.R.A., Webb, P.-N., Woolfe, K.J., 2001. Drilling for Antarctic Cenozoic climate and tectonic history at Cape Roberts, southwestern Ross Sea. EOS, Transactions of the American Geophysical Union 82, 585, 589-590.
- de Boer, B., Dolan, A.M., Bernales, J., Gasson, E., Goelzer, H., Golledge, N.R., Sutter, J., Huybrechts, P., Lohmann, G., Rogozhina, I., Abe-Ouchi, A., Saito, F., van de Wal, R.S.W., 2014.
 Simulating the Antarctic ice sheet in the Late-Pliocene warm period: PLISMIP-ANT, an ice-sheet model intercomparison project. The Cryosphere Discuss. 8, 5539-5588.

- De Vleeschouwer, D., Vahlenkamp, M., Crucifix, M., Pälike, H., 2017. Alternating Southern and Northern Hemisphere climate response to astronomical forcing during the past 35 m.y. Geology 45, 375-378.
- DeConto, R.M., Pollard, D., 2016. Contribution of Antarctica to past and future sea-level rise. Nature 531, 591-597.
- Di Roberto, A., Colizza, E., Del Carlo, P., Petrelli, M., Finocchiaro, F., Kuhn, G., 2019. First marine cryptotephra in Antarctica found in sediments of the western Ross Sea correlates with englacial tephras and climate records. Scientific reports 9, 1-10.
- Di Vincenzo, G., Bracciali, L., Del Carlo, P., Panter, K., Rocchi, S., 2009. 40Ar-39Ar dating of volcanogenic products from the AND-2A core (ANDRILL Southern McMurdo Sound Project, Antarctica): correlations with the Erebus Volcanic Province and implications for the age model of the core. Bulletin of Volcanology 72, 487–505.
- Domack, E.W., Harris, P.T., 1998. A new depositional model for ice shelves, based upon sediment cores from the Ross Sea and the MacRobertson shelf, Antarctica. Annals of Glaciology 27, 281-284.
- Domack, E.W., Jacobson, E.A., Shipp, S., Anderson, J.B., 1999. Late Pleistocene-Holocene retreat of the West Antarctic ice-sheet system in the Ross Sea; Part 2, Sedimentologic and stratigraphic signature. Geological Society of America Bulletin 111, 1517-1536.
- Dowsett, H.J., Robinson, M.M., Haywood, A.M., Hill, D.J., Dolan, A.M., Stoll, D.K., Chan, W.-L., Abe-Ouchi, A., Chandler, M.A., Rosenbloom, N.A., Otto-Bliesner, B.L., Bragg, F.J., Lunt, D.J., Foley, K.M., Riesselman, C.R., 2012. Assessing confidence in Pliocene sea surface temperatures to evaluate predictive models. Nature Clim. Change 2, 365-371.
- Dunbar, R.B., Anderson, J.B., Domack, E.W., Jacobs, S.S., Jacobs, S.S.e., 1985. Oceanographic influences on sedimentation along the Antarctic continental shelf Oceanology of the Antarctic continental shelf. Antarctic Research Series 43, 291-312.
- Dutton, A., Carlson, A.E., Long, A.J., Milne, G.A., Clark, P.U., DeConto, R., Horton, B.P., Rahmstorf, S., Raymo, M.E., 2015. Sea-level rise due to polar ice-sheet mass loss during past warm periods. Science 349.
- Dutton, A., Lambeck, K., 2012. Ice Volume and Sea Level During the Last Interglacial. Science 337, 216-219.
- Edwards, T.L., Brandon, M.A., Durand, G., Edwards, N.R., Golledge, N.R., Holden, P.B., Nias, I.J., Payne, A.J., Ritz, C., Wernecke, A., 2019. Revisiting Antarctic ice loss due to marine ice-cliff instability. Nature 566, 58-64.
- Esper, O., Gersonde, R., 2014. New tools for the reconstruction of Pleistocene Antarctic sea ice. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 399, 260-283.
- Farmer, G.L., Licht, K., Swope, R.J., Andrews, J., 2006a. Isotopic constraints on the provenance of fine-grained sediment in LGM tills from the Ross Embayment, Antarctica. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 249, 90-117.
- Farmer, G.L., Licht, K., Swope, R.J., Andrews, J., 2006b. Isotopic constraints on the provenance of fine-grained sediment in LGM tills from the Ross Embayment, Antarctica. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 249, 90-107.
- Feakins, S.J., Warny, S., Lee, J.-E., 2012. Hydrologic cycling over Antarctica during the middle Miocene warming. Nature Geosci 5, 557-560.

- Ferry, A.J., Crosta, X., Quilty, P.G., Fink, D., Howard, W., Armand, L.K., 2015. First records of winter sea ice concentration in the southwest Pacific sector of the Southern Ocean. Paleoceanography 30, 1525-1539.
- Fielding, C.R., Browne, G.H., Field, B., Florindo, F., Harwood, D.M., Krissek, L.A., Levy, R.H., Panter, K.S., Passchier, S., Pekar, S.F., 2011. Sequence stratigraphy of the ANDRILL AND-2A drillcore, Antarctica: A long-term, ice-proximal record of Early to Mid-Miocene climate, sealevel and glacial dynamism. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 305, 337-351.
- Fisher, A.T., Mankoff, K.D., Tulaczyk, S.M., Tyler, S.W., Foley, N., 2015. High geothermal heat flux measured below the West Antarctic Ice Sheet. Science Advances 1.
- Florindo, F., Bohaty, S.M., Erwin, P.S., Richter, C., Roberts, A.P., Whalen, P.A., Whitehead, J.M., Florindo, F.e., Cooper, A.K.e., O'Brien, P.E.e., 2003. Magnetobiostratigraphic chronology and palaeoenvironmental history of Cenozoic sequences from ODP sites 1165 and 1166, Prydz Bay, Antarctica.
- Antarctic Cenozoic palaeoenvironments; geologic record and models. ANTOSTRAT symposium; The geologic record of the Antarctic ice sheet from drilling, coring and seismic studies 198, 69-100.
- Florindo, F., Farmer, R.K., Harwood, D.M., Cody, R.D., Levy, R., Bohaty, S.M., Carter, L., Winkler, A., 2013. Paleomagnetism and biostratigraphy of sediments from Southern Ocean ODP Site 744 (southern Kerguelen Plateau): Implications for early-to-middle Miocene climate in Antarctica. Global and Planetary Change 110, Part C, 434-454.
- Flowerdew, M., Millar, I.L., Curtis, M.L., Vaughan, A., Horstwood, M., Whitehouse, M.J., Fanning, C.M., 2007. Combined U-Pb geochronology and Hf isotope geochemistry of detrital zircons from early Paleozoic sedimentary rocks, Ellsworth-Whitmore Mountains block, Antarctica. Geological Society of America Bulletin 119, 275-288.
- Fonseca, V.G., Carvalho, G.R., Sung, W., Johnson, H.F., Power, D.M., Neill, S.P., Packer, M., Blaxter, M.L., Lambshead, P.J.D., Thomas, W.K., 2010. Second-generation environmental sequencing unmasks marine metazoan biodiversity. Nature communications 1, 1-8.
- Foster, G.L., Lear, C.H., Rae, J.W.B., 2012. The evolution of pCO2, ice volume and climate during the middle Miocene. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 341–344, 243-254.
- Fretwell, P., Pritchard, H.D., Vaughan, D.G., Bamber, J.L., Barrand, N.E., Bell, R., Bianchi, C., Bingham, R.G., Blankenship, D.D., Casassa, G., Catania, G., Callens, D., Conway, H., Cook, A.J., Corr, H.F.J., Damaske, D., Damm, V., Ferraccioli, F., Forsberg, R., Fujita, S., Gim, Y., Gogineni, P., Griggs, J.A., Hindmarsh, R.C.A., Holmlund, P., Holt, J.W., Jacobel, R.W., Jenkins, A., Jokat, W., Jordan, T., King, E.C., Kohler, J., Krabill, W., Riger-Kusk, M., Langley, K.A., Leitchenkov, G., Leuschen, C., Luyendyk, B.P., Matsuoka, K., Mouginot, J., Nitsche, F.O., Nogi, Y., Nost, O.A., Popov, S.V., Rignot, E., Rippin, D.M., Rivera, A., Roberts, J., Ross, N., Siegert, M.J., Smith, A.M., Steinhage, D., Studinger, M., Sun, B., Tinto, B.K., Welch, B.C., Wilson, D., Young, D.A., Xiangbin, C., Zirizzotti, A., 2013. Bedmap2: improved ice bed, surface and thickness datasets for Antarctica. The Cryosphere 7, 375-393.
- Fulk, E.M., Huh, D., Atkinson, J.T., Lie, M., Masiello, C.A., Silberg, J.J., 2020. A split methyl halide transferase AND gate that reports by synthesizing an indicator gas. bioRxiv.
- Gal, J.-K., Kim, J.-H., Kim, S., Lee, S.H., Yoo, K.-C., Shin, K.-H., 2019. Application of the newly developed nutrient diol index (NDI) as a sea surface nutrient proxy in the East Sea for the last 240 years. Quaternary International 503, 146-152.
- Gamble, J.A., Barrett, P.J., Adams, C.J., Barrett, P.J.e., 1986. Basaltic clasts from Unit 8.

- Gasson, E., DeConto, R.M., Pollard, D., Levy, R.H., 2016. Dynamic Antarctic ice sheet during the early to mid-Miocene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 3459-3464.
- Gersonde, R., Crosta, X., Abelmann, A., Armand, L., 2005. Sea-surface temperature and sea ice distribution of the Southern Ocean at the EPILOG Last Glacial Maximum—a circum-Antarctic view based on siliceous microfossil records. Quaternary Science Reviews 24, 869-896.
- Gersonde, R., Zielinski, U., 2000. The reconstruction of late Quaternary Antarctic sea-ice distribution; the use of diatoms as a proxy for sea-ice. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 162, 263-286.
- Giorgetti, G., Talarico, F., Sandroni, S., Zeoli, A., 2009. Provenance of Pleistocene sediments in ANDRILL AND-1B drillhole: clay and heavy mineral data. Global and Planetary Change 69, 103-123.
- Goelzer, H., Huybrechts, P., Loutre, M.F., Fichefet, T., 2016. Last Interglacial climate and sea-level evolution from a coupled ice sheet–climate model. Clim. Past 12, 2195-2213.
- Golledge, N.R., Clark, P.U., He, F., Dutton, A., Turney, C.S.M., Fogwill, C.J., Naish, T.R., Levy, R.H., McKay, R.M., Lowry, D.P., Bertler, N.A.N., Dunbar, G.B., Carlson, A.E., 2021. Retreat of the Antarctic Ice Sheet During the Last Interglaciation and Implications for Future Change. Geophysical Research Letters 48, e2021GL094513.
- Golledge, N.R., Kowalewski, D.E., Naish, T.R., Levy, R.H., Fogwill, C.J., Gasson, E.G.W., 2015. The multi-millennial Antarctic commitment to future sea-level rise. Nature 526, 421-425.
- Goodge, J.W., Fanning, C.M., Norman, M.D., Bennett, V.C., 2012. Temporal, isotopic and spatial relations of early Paleozoic Gondwana-margin arc magmatism, central Transantarctic Mountains, Antarctica. Journal of Petrology 53, 2027-2065.
- Grant, G.R., Naish, T.R., Dunbar, G.B., Stocchi, P., Kominz, M.A., Kamp, P.J.J., Tapia, C.A., McKay, R.M., Levy, R.H., Patterson, M.O., 2019. The amplitude and origin of sea-level variability during the Pliocene epoch. Nature 574, 237-241.
- Greenop, R., Foster, G.L., Wilson, P.A., Lear, C.H., 2014. Middle Miocene climate instability associated with high-amplitude CO2 variability. Paleoceanography 29, 2014PA002653.
- Häggi, C., Chiessi, C.M., Schefuß, E., 2015. Testing the D/H ratio of alkenones and palmitic acid as salinity proxies in the Amazon Plume. Biogeosciences 12, 7239-7249.
- Halberstadt, A.R.W., Simkins, L.M., Greenwood, S.L., Anderson, J.B., 2016. Past ice-sheet behaviour: retreat scenarios and changing controls in the Ross Sea, Antarctica. The Cryosphere 10, 1003-1020.
- Hannah, M.J., Wrenn, J.H., Wilson, G.J., Hambrey, M.J.e., Wise, S.W.e., Barrett, P.e., Davey, F.J.e., Ehrmann, W.e., Smellie, J.L.e., Villa, G.e., Woolfe, K.J.e., 1998. Early Miocene and Quaternary marine palynomorphs from Cape Roberts Project CRP-1, McMurdo Sound, Antarctica Studies from the Cape Roberts Project; Ross Sea, Antarctica; scientific report of CRP-1. Terra Antartica 5, 527-538.
- Hart, S.R., Blusztajn, J., LeMasurier, W.E., Rex, D.C., 1997. Hobbs Coast Cenozoic volcanism: implications for the West Antarctic rift system. Chemical Geology 139, 223-248.
- Hartman, J.D., Sangiorgi, F., Salabarnada, A., Peterse, F., Houben, A.J.P., Schouten, S., Brinkhuis, H., Escutia, C., Bijl, P.K., 2018. Paleoceanography and ice sheet variability offshore Wilkes Land, Antarctica Part 3: Insights from Oligocene–Miocene TEX86-based sea surface temperature reconstructions. Clim. Past 14, 1275-1297.

- Harwood, D., Florindo, F., Talarico, F., Levy, R.H., 2008-2009. Studies from the ANDRILL Southern McMurdo Sound Project, Antarctica - Initial Science Report on AND-2A, Terra Antartica, p. 235.
- Harwood, D.M., Scherer, R.P., Webb, P.-N., 1989a. Multiple Miocene marine productivity events in West Antarctica as recorded in upper Miocene sediments beneath the Ross Ice Shelf (Site J-9). Marine Micropaleontology 15, 91-115.
- Harwood, D.M., Scherer, R.P., Webb, P.-N., 1989b. Multiple Miocene productivity events in West Antarctica as recorded in upper Miocene sediments beneath the Ross Ice Shelf (Site J-9). Marine Micropaleontology 15, 91-115.
- Hay, C., Mitrovica, J.X., Gomez, N., Creveling, J.R., Austermann, J., E. Kopp, R., 2014. The sea-level fingerprints of ice-sheet collapse during interglacial periods. Quaternary Science Reviews 87, 60-69.
- Hayes, D.E., Frakes, L.A., Barrett, P.J., Burns, D.A., Chen, P.-H., Ford, A.B., Kaneps, A.G., Kemp,
 E.M., McCollum, D.W., Piper, D.J.W., Wall, R.E., Webb, P.N., 1975a. Site 273. Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project 28, 335-368.
- Hayes, D.E., Frakes, L.A., Barrett, P.J., Burns, D.A., Chen, P.-H., Ford, A.B., Kaneps, A.G., Kemp, E.M., McCollum, D.W., Piper, D.J.W., Wall, R.E., Webb, P.N., 1975b. Sites 270, 271, 272. Initial Reports of the Deep Sea Drilling Project 28, 211-334.
- Haywood, A.M., Dowsett, H.J., Dolan, A.M., Rowley, D., Abe-Ouchi, A., Otto-Bliesner, B., Chandler, M.A., Hunter, S.J., Lunt, D.J., Pound, M., Salzmann, U., 2016. The Pliocene Model Intercomparison Project (PlioMIP) Phase 2: scientific objectives and experimental design. Clim. Past 12, 663-675.
- Haywood, A.M., Hill, D.J., Dolan, A.M., Otto-Bliesner, B.L., Bragg, F., Chan, W.L., Chandler, M.A., Contoux, C., Dowsett, H.J., Jost, A., Kamae, Y., Lohmann, G., Lunt, D.J., Abe-Ouchi, A., Pickering, S.J., Ramstein, G., Rosenbloom, N.A., Salzmann, U., Sohl, L., Stepanek, C., Ueda, H., Yan, Q., Zhang, Z., 2013. Large-scale features of Pliocene climate: results from the Pliocene Model Intercomparison Project. Clim. Past 9, 191-209.
- Hemming, S., Van de Flierdt, T., Goldstein, S., Franzese, A., Roy, M., Gastineau, G., Landrot, G.,
 2007. Strontium isotope tracing of terrigenous sediment dispersal in the Antarctic Circumpolar
 Current: implications for constraining frontal positions. Geochemistry, Geophysics,
 Geosystems 8.
- Hillenbrand, C.-D., Moreton, S., Caburlotto, A., Pudsey, C., Lucchi, R., Smellie, J., Benetti, S., Grobe, H., Hunt, J., Larter, R., 2008. Volcanic time-markers for Marine Isotopic Stages 6 and 5 in Southern Ocean sediments and Antarctic ice cores: implications for tephra correlations between palaeoclimatic records. Quaternary Science Reviews 27, 518-540.
- Hillenbrand, C.D., Smith, J.A., Kuhn, G., Esper, O., Gersonde, R., Larter, R.D., Maher, B., Moreton,
 S.G., Shimmield, T.M., Korte, M., 2010. Age assignment of a diatomaceous ooze deposited in
 the western Amundsen Sea Embayment after the Last Glacial Maximum. Journal of
 Quaternary Science: Published for the Quaternary Research Association 25, 280-295.
- Holbourn, A., Kuhnt, W., Kochhann, K.G.D., Andersen, N., Sebastian Meier, K.J., 2015. Global perturbation of the carbon cycle at the onset of the Miocene Climatic Optimum. Geology 43, 123-126.
- Hooyer, T.S., Iverson, N.R., Lagroix, F., Thomason, J.F., 2008. Magnetic fabric of sheared till: A strain indicator for evaluating the bed deformation model of glacier flow. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 113.

- Horgan, H.J., Christianson, K., Jacobel, R.W., Anandakrishnan, S., Alley, R.B., 2013. Sediment deposition at the modern grounding zone of Whillans Ice Stream, West Antarctica. Geophysical Research Letters 40, 3934-3939.
- Hulbe, C., Fahnestock, M., 2007. Century-scale discharge stagnation and reactivation of the Ross ice streams, West Antarctica. Journal of Geophysical Research: Earth Surface 112.
- IPCC, 2013. Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis, Contribution of Working Group 1 to the Fifth Assessment Report Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change. Cambridge University Press.
- Joseph, L.H., Rea, D.K., Van der Pluijm, B.A., 1998. Use of grain size and magnetic fabric analyses to distinguish among depositional environments. Paleoceanography 13, 491-501.
- Joseph, L.H., Rea, D.K., van der Pluijm, B.A., Gleason, J.D., 2002. Antarctic environmental variability since the late Miocene: ODP Site 745, the East Kerguelen sediment drift. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 201, 127-142.
- Joughin, I., Tulaczyk, S., 2002. Positive mass balance of the Ross ice streams, West Antarctica. Science 295, 476-480.
- Joughin, I., Tulaczyk, S., Bindschadler, R., Price, S.F., 2002. Changes in west Antarctic ice stream velocities; observation and analysis. Journal of Geophysical Research, B, Solid Earth and Planets 107, 32.
- Kallmeyer, J., Pockalny, R., Adhikari, R.R., Smith, D.C., D'Hondt, S., 2012. Global distribution of microbial abundance and biomass in subseafloor sediment. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 16213-16216.
- Karst, S.M., Dueholm, M.S., McIlroy, S.J., Kirkegaard, R.H., Nielsen, P.H., Albertsen, M., 2018. Retrieval of a million high-quality, full-length microbial 16S and 18S rRNA gene sequences without primer bias. Nature Biotechnology 36, 190.
- Kim, J.-H., Crosta, X., Willmott, V., Renssen, H., Bonnin, J., Helmke, P., Schouten, S., Sinninghe Damsté, J.S., 2012. Holocene subsurface temperature variability in the eastern Antarctic continental margin. Geophysical Research Letters 39, L06705.
- Kingslake, J., Scherer, R.P., Albrecht, T., Coenen, J., Powell, R.D., Reese, R., Stansell, N.D., Tulaczyk, S., Wearing, M.G., Whitehouse, P.L., 2018. Extensive retreat and re-advance of the West Antarctic Ice Sheet during the Holocene. Nature 558, 430-434.
- Kopp, R.E., Hay, C.C., Little, C.M., Mitrovica, J.X., 2015. Geographic Variability of Sea-Level Change. Current Climate Change Reports 1, 192-204.
- Kopp, R.E., Simons, F.J., Mitrovica, J.X., Maloof, A.C., Oppenheimer, M., 2009. Probabilistic assessment of sea level during the last interglacial stage. Nature 462, 863.
- Korhonen, F., Saito, S., Brown, M., Siddoway, C., Day, J., 2010. Multiple generations of granite in the Fosdick Mountains, Marie Byrd Land, West Antarctica: implications for polyphase intracrustal differentiation in a continental margin setting. Journal of Petrology 51, 627-670.
- Kotthoff, U., Groeneveld, J., Ash, J., Fanget, A.-S., Krupinski, N.Q., Peyron, O., Stepanova, A.,
 Warnock, J., Van Helmond, N.A., Passey, B.H., 2017. Reconstructing Holocene temperature and salinity variations in the western Baltic Sea region: a multi-proxy comparison from the Little Belt (IODP Expedition 347, Site M0059). Biogeosciences 14, 5607-5632.
- Krissek, L., Browne, G., Carter, L., Cowan, E.A., Dunbar, G., McKay, R., Naish, T., Powell, R., Reed, J., Wilch, T.I., Team, A.S., 2007. Sedimentology and stratigraphy of the AND-1B core, ANDRILL McMurdo Ice Shelf Project, Antarctica. Terra Antarctica 14, 185-222.

- Kulhanek, D.K., Levy, R.H., Clowes, C.D., Prebble, J.G., Rodelli, D., Jovane, L., Morgans, H.E.G., Kraus, C., Zwingmann, H., Griffith, E.M., Scher, H.D., McKay, R.M., Naish, T.R., 2019.
 Revised chronostratigraphy of DSDP Site 270 and late Oligocene to early Miocene paleoecology of the Ross Sea sector of Antarctica. Global and Planetary Change 178, 46-64.
- Kyle, P.R., 1990. McMurdo Volcanic Group, western Ross embayment, in: LeMasurier, W.E., Thomson, J.W. (Eds.), Volcanoes of the Antarctic Plate and Southern Oceans, Antarctic Research Series. American Geophysical Union, Washington, D. C., pp. 19-25.
- Lang, N., Wolff, E.W., 2011. Interglacial and glacial variability from the last 800 ka in marine, ice and terrestrial archives. Clim. Past 7, 361.
- Leventer, A., 1998. The fate of Antarctic "sea ice diatoms" and their use as paleoenvironmental indicators. Antarctic sea ice. Biological processes, interactions and variability, 121-137.
- Leventer, A., Dunbar, R.B., DeMaster, D.J., 1993. Diatom evidence for late Holocene climatic events in Granite Harbor, Antarctica. Paleoceanography 8, 373-386.
- Leventer, A.R., Domack, E.W., Barkoukis, A., McAndrews, B., Murray, J.W., 2002. Laminations from the Palmer Deep: a diatom-based interpretation. Paleoceanography 17, 1-15.
- Lever, M., Torti, A., Eickenbusch, P., Michaud, A., 2015. A modular method for the extraction of DNA and RNA, and the separation of DNA pools from diverse environmental sample types. Front Microbiol 6, 476.
- Levy, R., Harwood, D., Florindo, F., Sangiorgi, F., Tripati, R., von Eynatten, H., Gasson, E., Kuhn, G., Tripati, A., DeConto, R., Fielding, C., Field, B., Golledge, N., McKay, R., Naish, T., Olney, M., Pollard, D., Schouten, S., Talarico, F., Warny, S., Willmott, V., Acton, G., Panter, K., Paulsen, T., Taviani, M., Team, S.S., 2016. Antarctic ice sheet sensitivity to atmospheric CO2 variations in the early to mid-Miocene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 3453-3458.
- Levy, R.H., Harwood, D.M., Stilwell, J.D.e., Feldmann, R.M.e., 2000a. Sedimentary lithofacies of the McMurdo Sound erratics Paleobiology and paleoenvironments of Eocene rocks, McMurdo Sound, East Antarctica. Antarctic Research Series 76, 39-61.
- Levy, R.H., Harwood, D.M., Stilwell, J.D.e., Feldmann, R.M.e., 2000b. Tertiary marine palynomorphs from the McMurdo Sound erratics, AntarcticaPaleobiology and paleoenvironments of Eocene rocks, McMurdo Sound, East Antarctica. Antarctic Research Series 76, 183-242.
- Levy, R.H., Meyers, S.R., Naish, T.R., Golledge, N.R., McKay, R.M., Crampton, J.S., DeConto, R.M., De Santis, L., Florindo, F., Gasson, E.G.W., Harwood, D.M., Luyendyk, B.P., Powell, R.D., Clowes, C., Kulhanek, D.K., 2019. Antarctic ice-sheet sensitivity to obliquity forcing enhanced through ocean connections. Nature Geoscience.
- Licht, K.J., Hennessy, A.J., Welke, B.M., 2014. The U-Pb detrital zircon signature of West Antarctic ice stream tills in the Ross embayment, with implications for Last Glacial Maximum ice flow reconstructions. Antarctic Science 26, 687-697.
- Licht, K.J., Lederer, J.R., Swope, R.J., 2005. Provenance of LGM glacial till (sand fraction) across the Ross embayment, Antarctica. Quaternary Science Reviews 24, 1499-1520.
- Lisiecki, L.E., Raymo, M.E., 2005. A Pliocene-Pleistocene stack of 57 globally distributed benthic δ¹⁸O records. Paleoceanography 20, 1-17.
- Lisker, F., Läufer, A.L., 2013. The Mesozoic Victoria Basin: Vanished link between Antarctica and Australia. Geology 41, 1043-1046.

- Lowry, D.P., Golledge, N.R., Bertler, N.A., Jones, R.S., McKay, R., Stutz, J., 2020. Geologic controls on ice sheet sensitivity to deglacial climate forcing in the Ross Embayment, Antarctica. Quaternary Science Advances 1, 100002.
- Luthra, T., Anandakrishnan, S., Winberry, J.P., Alley, R.B., Holschuh, N., 2016. Basal characteristics of the main sticky spot on the ice plain of Whillans Ice Stream, Antarctica. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 440, 12-19.
- Mahé, F., Rognes, T., Quince, C., Vargas, C., 2014. Swarm: robust and fast clustering method for amplicon-based studies. Peer J 2, e593.
- Malone, M.J., Claypool, G., Martin, J.B., Dickens, G.R., 2002. Variable methane fluxes in shallow marine systems over geologic time; the composition and origin of pore waters and authigenic carbonates on the New Jersey shelf. Marine Geology 189, 175-196.
- Marschalek, J.W., Zurli, L., Talarico, F., van de Flierdt, T., Vermeesch, P., Carter, A., Beny, F., Bout-Roumazeilles, V., Sangiorgi, F., Hemming, S.R., Pérez, L.F., Colleoni, F., Prebble, J.G., van Peer, T.E., Perotti, M., Shevenell, A.E., Browne, I., Kulhanek, D.K., Levy, R., Harwood, D., Sullivan, N.B., Meyers, S.R., Griffith, E.M., Hillenbrand, C.D., Gasson, E., Siegert, M.J., Keisling, B., Licht, K.J., Kuhn, G., Dodd, J.P., Boshuis, C., De Santis, L., McKay, R.M., Ash, J., Beny, F., Browne, I.M., Cortese, G., De Santis, L., Dodd, J.P., Esper, O.M., Gales, J.A., Harwood, D.M., Ishino, S., Keisling, B.A., Kim, S., Kim, S., Kulhanek, D.K., Laberg, J.S., Leckie, R.M., McKay, R.M., Müller, J., Patterson, M.O., Romans, B.W., Romero, O.E., Sangiorgi, F., Seki, O., Shevenell, A.E., Singh, S.M., Cordeiro de Sousa, I.M., Sugisaki, S.T., van de Flierdt, T., van Peer, T.E., Xiao, W., Xiong, Z., Expedition, I., 2021. A large West Antarctic Ice Sheet explains early Neogene sea-level amplitude. Nature 600, 450-455.
- Masiello, C., 2020. Synthetic biology can pair with omics to understand mechanisms driving marine biogeochemical cycles, Ocean Sciences Meeting 2020. Agu.
- Matsuoka, K., Hindmarsh, R.C.A., Moholdt, G., Bentley, M.J., Pritchard, H.D., Brown, J., Conway, H., Drews, R., Durand, G., Goldberg, D., Hattermann, T., Kingslake, J., Lenaerts, J.T.M., Martín, C., Mulvaney, R., Nicholls, K.W., Pattyn, F., Ross, N., Scambos, T., Whitehouse, P.L., 2015. Antarctic ice rises and rumples: Their properties and significance for ice-sheet dynamics and evolution. Earth-Science Reviews 150, 724-745.
- Mazzullo, J., Leschak, P., Prusak, D., 1988. Sources and distribution of late Quaternary silt in the surficial sediment of the northeastern continental shelf of the United States. Marine Geology 78, 241-254.
- McIntosh, W.C., 1998. ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar geochronology of volcanic clasts and pumice in CRP-1 Core, Cape Roberts, Antarctica Studies from the Cape Roberts Project; Ross Sea, Antarctica; scientific report of CRP-1. Terra Antartica 5, 683-690.
- McIntosh, W.C., 2000. ⁴⁰Ar/³⁹Ar geochronology of tephra and volcanic clasts in CRP-2A, Victoria Land Basin, Antarctica.
- McKay, R., Browne, G., Carter, L., Cowan, E., Dunbar, G., Krissek, L., Naish, T., Powell, R., Reed, J., Talarico, F., Wilch, T., 2009. The stratigraphic signature of the late Cenozoic Antarctic Ice Sheets in the Ross Embayment. Geological Society of America Bulletin 121, 1537-1561.
- McKay, R., De Santis, L., Kulhanek, D., Expedition_374_Scientists, 2019. Ross Sea West Antarctic Ice Sheet History, Proceedings of the International Ocean Discovery Program. International Ocean Discovery Program, College Station.

- McKay, R., Naish, T., Carter, L., Riesselman, C., Dunbar, R., Sjunneskog, C., Winter, D., Sangiorgi, F., Warren, C., Pagani, M., Schouten, S., Willmott, V., Levy, R., DeConto, R., Powell, R.D., 2012a. Antarctic and Southern Ocean influences on Late Pliocene global cooling.
 Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 109, 6423-6428.
- McKay, R., Naish, T., Powell, R., Barrett, P., Scherer, R., Talarico, F., Kyle, P., Monien, D., Kuhn, G., Jackolski, C., Williams, T., 2012b. Pleistocene variability of Antarctic Ice Sheet extent in the Ross Embayment. Quaternary Science Reviews 34, 93-112.
- Melles, M., Brigham-Grette, J., Minyuk, P.S., Nowaczyk, N.R., Wennrich, V., DeConto, R.M.,
 Anderson, P.M., Andreev, A.A., Coletti, A., Cook, T.L., Haltia-Hovi, E., Kukkonen, M., Lozhkin,
 A.V., Rosén, P., Tarasov, P., Vogel, H., Wagner, B., 2012. 2.8 Million Years of Arctic Climate
 Change from Lake El'gygytgyn, NE Russia. Science 337, 315-320.
- Meinshausen, M., Nicholls, Z.R.J., Lewis, J., Gidden, M.J., Vogel, E., Freund, M., Beyerle, U., Gessner, C., Nauels, A., Bauer, N., Canadell, J.G., Daniel, J.S., John, A., Krummel, P.B., Luderer, G., Meinshausen, N., Montzka, S.A., Rayner, P.J., Reimann, S., Smith, S.J., van den Berg, M., Velders, G.J.M., Vollmer, M.K., Wang, R.H.J., 2020. The shared socio-economic pathway (SSP) greenhouse gas concentrations and their extensions to 2500. Geosci. Model Dev. 13, 3571-3605.
- Mercer, J.H., 1978. West Antarctic Ice Sheet and CO2 greenhouse effect: a threat of disaster. Nature 271, 321-325.
- Menzies, J., van der Meer, J., Ravier, E., 2016. A kinematic unifying theory of microstructures in subglacial tills. Sedimentary Geology 344, 57-70.
- Millan, C., 2013. Syntectonic Fluid Flux in a Glaciated Rift Basin: Record from vein arrays in the AND-1B and AND-2A sedimentary rock cores, Victoria Land Basin, Antarctica. The Ohio State University.
- Mitrovica, J.X., Gomez, N., Clark, P.U., 2009. The Sea-Level Fingerprint of West Antarctic Collapse. Science 323, 753.
- Moncrieff, A., 1989. Classification of poorly-sorted sedimentary rocks. Sedimentary Geology 65, 191-194.
- Morlighem, M., Rignot, E., Binder, T., Blankenship, D., Drews, R., Eagles, G., Eisen, O., Ferraccioli, F., Forsberg, R., Fretwell, P., Goel, V., Greenbaum, J.S., Gudmundsson, H., Guo, J., Helm, V., Hofstede, C., Howat, I., Humbert, A., Jokat, W., Karlsson, N.B., Lee, W.S., Matsuoka, K., Millan, R., Mouginot, J., Paden, J., Pattyn, F., Roberts, J., Rosier, S., Ruppel, A., Seroussi, H., Smith, E.C., Steinhage, D., Sun, B., Broeke, M.R.v.d., Ommen, T.D.v., Wessem, M.v., Young, D.A., 2020. Deep glacial troughs and stabilizing ridges unveiled beneath the margins of the Antarctic ice sheet. Nature Geoscience 13, 132–137.
- Mukasa, S.B., Dalziel, I.W.D., 2000. Marie Byrd Land, West Antarctica; evolution of Gondwana's Pacific margin constrained by zircon U-Pb geochronology and feldspar common-Pb isotopic compositions. Geological Society of America Bulletin 112, 611-627.
- Naish, T., Duncan, B., Levy, R., McKay, R., Escutia, C., De Santis, L., Colleoni, F., Gasson, E., DeConto, R., Wilson, G., 2022. Chapter 8 - Antarctic Ice Sheet dynamics during the Late Oligocene and Early Miocene: climatic conundrums revisited, in: Florindo, F., Siegert, M., Santis, L.D., Naish, T. (Eds.), Antarctic Climate Evolution (Second Edition). Elsevier, Amsterdam, pp. 363-387.

- Naish, T., Powell, R., Levy, R., Henrys, S., Krissek, L., Niessen, F., Pompilio, M., Scherer, R., Wilson, G., ANDRILL_MIS_Science_Team, 2007. Synthesis of the Initial Scientific Results of the MIS Project, Victoria Land Basin, Antarctica, in: Naish, T., Powell, R., Levy, R. (Eds.), Studies from the ANDRILL, McMurdo Ice Shelf Project, Antarctica Initial Science Report on AND-1B. Terra Antartica, pp. 317-329.
- Naish, T., Powell, R., Levy, R., Wilson, G., Scherer, R., Talarico, F., Krissek, L., Niessen, F., Pompilio, M., Wilson, T., Carter, L., DeConto, R., Huybers, P., McKay, R., Pollard, D., Ross, J., Winter, D., Barrett, P., Browne, G., Cody, R., Cowan, E., Crampton, J., Dunbar, G., Dunbar, N., Florindo, F., Gebhardt, C., Graham, I., Hannah, M., Hansaraj, D., Harwood, D., Helling, D., Henrys, S., Hinnov, L., Kuhn, G., Kyle, P., Laufer, A., Maffioli, P., Magens, D., Mandernack, K., McIntosh, W., Millan, C., Morin, R., Ohneiser, C., Paulsen, T., Persico, D., Raine, I., Reed, J., Riesselman, C., Sagnotti, L., Schmitt, D., Sjunneskog, C., Strong, P., Taviani, M., Vogel, S., Wilch, T., Williams, T., 2009. Obliquity-paced Pliocene West Antarctic ice sheet oscillations. Nature 458, 322-328.
- Naish, T.R., Woolfe, K.J., Barrett, P.J., Wilson, G.S.e.a., 2001. Orbitally induced oscillations in the East Antarctic ice sheet at the Oligocene/Miocene boundary. Nature 413, 719-723.
- Narcisi, B., Petit, J.R., Delmonte, B., Scarchilli, C., Stenni, B., 2012. A 16,000-yr tephra framework for the Antarctic ice sheet: a contribution from the new Talos Dome core. Quaternary Science Reviews 49, 52-63.
- Neem_Community_Members, 2013. Eemian interglacial reconstructed from a Greenland folded ice core. Nature 493, 489-494.
- Ohneiser, C., Acton, G., Channell, J.E., Wilson, G.S., Yamamoto, Y., Yamazaki, T., 2013. A middle Miocene relative paleointensity record from the Equatorial Pacific. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 374, 227-238.
- Ohneiser, C., Wilson, G., 2018. Eccentricity-Paced Southern Hemisphere Glacial-Interglacial Cyclicity Preceding the Middle Miocene Climatic Transition. Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology 33, 795-806.
- Ohneiser, C., Wilson, G.S., 2012. Revised magnetostratigraphic chronologies for New Harbour Drill cores, southern Victoria Land, Antarctica. Global and Planetary Change 82-83 Special Issue, 12-24.
- Ohneiser, C., Wilson, G.S., Beltran, C., Dolan, A.M., Hill, D.J., Prebble, J.G., 2020. Warm fjords and vegetated landscapes in early Pliocene East Antarctica. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 534, 116045.
- Ohneiser, C., Yoo, K.-C., Albot, O.B., Cortese, G., Riesselman, C., Lee, J.I., McKay, R., Bollen, M., Lee, M.K., Moon, H.S., Kim, S., Beltran, C., Levy, R., Wilson, G.S., 2019. Magnetobiostratigraphic age models for Pleistocene sedimentary records from the Ross Sea. Global and Planetary Change 176, 36-49.
- Oppenheimer, M., Glavovic, B.C., Hinkel, J., van de Wal, R., Magnan, A.K., Abd-Elgawad, A., Cai, R.,
 CifuentesJara, M., DeConto, R.M., Ghosh, T., Hay, J., Isla, F., Marzeion, B.E.N., Meyssignac,
 B., Sebesvari, Z., 2019. Sea Level Rise and Implications for Low-Lying Islands, Coasts and
 Communities. IPCC Special Report on the Ocean and Cryosphere in a Changing Climate.
- Otto-Bliesner, B.L., Rosenbloom, N., Stone, E.J., McKay, N.P., Lunt, D.J., Brady, E.C., Overpeck, J.T., 2013. How warm was the last interglacial? New model–data comparisons. Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society A: Mathematical, Physical and Engineering Sciences 371.
- Pagani, M., Arther, M.A., Freeman, K.H., 1999. Miocene evolution of atmospheric carbon dioxide. Paleoceanography 4, 273-292.

- Palmer, E.F., Licht, K.J., Swope, R.J., Hemming, S.R., 2012. Nunatak moraines as a repository of what lies beneath the East Antarctic ice sheet. Geological Society of America Special Paper 487, 97-104.
- Pankhurst, R.J., Weaver, S.D., Bradshaw, J.D., Storey, B.C., Ireland, T.R., 1998. Geochronology and geochemistry of pre-Jurassic superterranes in Marie Byrd Land, Antarctica. Journal of Geophysical Research 1033, 2529-2547.
- Panter, K.S., Hart, S.R., Kyle, P.R., Blusztanjn, J., Wilch, T.I., 2000. Geochemistry of late Cenozoic basalts from the Crary Mountains: characterization of mantle sources in eastern Marie Byrd Land, Antarctica. Chemical Geology 165, 215-241.
- Paolo, F.S., Fricker, H.A., Padman, L., 2015. Volume loss from Antarctic ice shelves is accelerating. Science 348, 327-331.
- Parada, A.E., Needham, D.M., Fuhrman, J.A., 2016. Every base matters: assessing small subunit rRNA primers for marine microbiomes with mock communities, time series and global field samples. Environmental microbiology 18, 1403-1414.
- Parks, D., Imelfort, M., Skennerton, C., Hugenholtz, P., Tyson, G., 2015. CheckM: assessing the quality of microbial genomes recovered from isolates, single cells, and metagenomes. . Genome Res. 25(7), 1043-1055.
- Passchier, S., Browne, G., Field, B., Fielding, C.R., Krissek, L.A., Panter, K., Pekar, S.F., Science Team, A.-S., 2011. Early and middle Miocene Antarctic glacial history from the sedimentary facies distribution in the AND-2A drill hole, Ross Sea, Antarctica. Geological Society of America Bulletin, B30334.30331.
- Patterson, M.O., McKay, R., Naish, T., Escutia, C., Jimenez-Espejo, F.J., Raymo, M.E., Meyers, S.R., Tauxe, L., Brinkhuis, H., Scientists, I.E., 2014. Orbital forcing of the East Antarctic ice sheet during the Pliocene and Early Pleistocene. Nature Geosci 7, 841-847.
- Paulsen, T., Encarnación, J., Grunow, A., Valencia, V., Pecha, M., Layer, P., Rasoazanamparany, C., 2013. Age and significance of 'outboard'high-grade metamorphics and intrusives of the Ross orogen, Antarctica. Gondwana Research 24, 349-358.
- Paulsen, T.S., Wilson, T.J., 2009. Structure and age of volcanic fissures on Mount Morning: A new constraint on Neogene to contemporary stress in the West Antarctic Rift, southern Victoria Land, Antarctica. Geological Society of America Bulletin 121, 1071-1088.
- Paulsen, T.S., Wilson, T.J., Demosthenous, C., Millan, C., Jarrard, R., Läufer, A., 2014. Kinematics of the Neogene Terror Rift: Constraints from calcite twinning strains in the ANDRILL McMurdo Ice Shelf (AND-1B) core, Victoria Land Basin, Antarctica. Geosphere 10, 828-841.
- Paxman, G.J.G., Jamieson, S.S.R., Hochmuth, K., Gohl, K., Bentley, M.J., Leitchenkov, G., Ferraccioli, F., 2019. Reconstructions of Antarctic topography since the Eocene–Oligocene boundary. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 535, 109346.
- Petersen, S., Schrag, D., 2015. Antarctic ice growth before and after the Eocene-Oligocene transition: New estimates from clumped isotope paleothermometry. Paleoceanography 30, 1305-1317.
- Pierce, E.L., van de Flierdt, T., Williams, T., Hemming, S.R., Cook, C.P., Passchier, S., 2017. Evidence for a dynamic East Antarctic ice sheet during the mid-Miocene climate transition. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 478, 1-13.
- Pollard, D., DeConto, R.M., 2009. Modelling West Antarctic ice sheet growth and collapse through the past five million years. Nature 458, 329-332.
- Pollard, D., DeConto, R.M., Alley, R.B., 2015. Potential Antarctic Ice Sheet retreat driven by hydrofracturing and ice cliff failure. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 412, 112-121.

- Price, S.F., Bindschadler, R.A., Hulbe, C.L., Joughin, I.R., 2001. Post-stagnation behavior in the upstream regions of Ice Stream C, West Antarctica. Journal of Glaciology 47, 283-294.
- Pritchard, H.D., Ligtenberg, S.R.M., Fricker, H.A., Vaughan, D.G., van den Broeke, M.R., Padman, L., 2012. Antarctic ice-sheet loss driven by basal melting of ice shelves. Nature 484, 502-505.
- Rampen, S.W., Willmott, V., Kim, J.-H., Uliana, E., Mollenhauer, G., Schefuß, E., Damsté, J.S.S., Schouten, S., 2012. Long chain 1, 13-and 1, 15-diols as a potential proxy for palaeotemperature reconstruction. Geochimica et Cosmochimica Acta 84, 204-216.
- Raymo, M.E., Mitrovica, J.X., 2012. Collapse of polar ice sheets during the stage 11 interglacial. Nature 483, 453.
- Renaudie, J., Lazarus, D.B., 2016. New species of Neogene radiolarians from the Southern Ocean– part IV. Journal of Micropalaeontology 35, 26-53.
- Retzlaff, R., Bentley, C.R., 2017. Timing of stagnation of Ice Stream C, West Antarctica, from shortpulse radar studies of buried surface crevasses. Journal of Glaciology 39, 553-561.
- Retzlaff, R., Lord, N., Bentley, C.R., 1993. Airborne-radar studies: Ice Streams A, B and C, West Antarctica. Journal of Glaciology 39, 495-506.
- Rignot, E., Mouginot, J., Scheuchl, B., van den Broeke, M., van Wessem, M.J., Morlighem, M., 2019. Four decades of Antarctic Ice Sheet mass balance from 1979–2017. 201812883.
- Rosenheim, B.E., Day, M.B., Domack, E., Schrum, H., Benthien, A., Hayes, J.M., 2008. Antarctic sediment chronology by programmed-temperature pyrolysis: Methodology and data treatment. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 9, n/a-n/a.
- Rossetti, F., Lisker, F., Storti, F., Läufer, A.L., 2003. Tectonic and denudational history of the Rennick Graben (North Victoria Land): Implications for the evolution of rifting between East and West Antarctica. Tectonics 22.
- Roy, M., van de Flierdt, T., Hemming, S.R., Goldstein, S.L., 2007. 40Ar/39Ar ages of hornblende grains and bulk Sm/Nd isotopes of circum-Antarctic glacio-marine sediments: implications for sediment provenance in the southern ocean. Chemical Geology 244, 507-519.
- Sagnotti, L., Florindo, F., Wilson, G.S., Roberts, A.P., Verosub, K.L., Hambrey, M.J.e., Wise, S.W.e., Barrett, P.e., Davey, F.J.e., Ehrmann, W.e., Smellie, J.L.e., Villa, G.e., Woolfe, K.J.e., 1998. Environmental magnetism of lower Miocene strata from the CRP-1 Core, McMurdo Sound, Antarctica Studies from the Cape Roberts Project; Ross Sea, Antarctica; scientific report of CRP-1. Terra Antartica 5, 661-667.
- Sandroni, S., Talarico, F.M., 2011. The record of Miocene climatic events in AND-2A drill core (Antarctica): insights from provenance analyses of basement clasts. Global and Planetary Change 75 Special Issue, 31-46.
- Sangiorgi, F., Bijl, P.K., Passchier, S., Salzmann, U., Schouten, S., McKay, R., Cody, R.D., Pross, J., Van De Flierdt, T., Bohaty, S.M., Levy, R., Williams, T., Escutia, C., Brinkhuis, H., 2018. Southern Ocean warming and Wilkes Land ice sheet retreat during the mid-Miocene. Nature Communications 9.
- Scherer, R., Tulaczyk, S., 1998. Diatoms in subglacial sediments yield clues regarding West Antarctic ice-sheet history and ice-stream processes. Antarctic Journal of the United States 32, 32-34.
- Scherer, R.P., 1991a. Quaternary and Tertiary microfossils from beneath Ice Stream B: Evidence for a dynamic West Antarctic ice sheet history. Global and Planetary Change 4, 395-412.
- Scherer, R.P., 1991b. Quaternary and Tertiary microfossils from beneath Ice Stream B; evidence for a dynamic West Antarctic ice sheet history. Global and Planetary Change 4, 395-412.

- Scherer, R.P., Aldahan, A., Tulaczyk, S., Possnert, G., Engelhardt, H., Kamb, B., 1998. Pleistocene Collapse of the West Antarctic Ice Sheet. Science 281, 82-85.
- Scherer, R.P., Bohaty, S.M., Dunbar, R.B., Esper, O., Flores, J.A., Gersonde, R., Harwood, D.M., Roberts, A.P., Taviani, M., 2008. Antarctic records of precession-paced insolation-driven warming during early Pleistocene Marine Isotope Stage 31. Geophys. Res. Lett. 35, L03505.
- Scherer, R.P., Harwood, D.M., Ishman, S.E., Webb, P.N., Reuning, W.M.e., 1988.
 Micropaleontological analysis of sediments from the Crary Ice Rise, Ross Ice Shelf 1988 review. Antarctic Journal of the United States 23, 34-36.
- Seki, O., Kawamura, K., Ishiwatari, R., 2012. Assessment of hydrogen isotopic compositions of n-fatty acids as paleoclimate proxies in Lake Biwa sediments. Journal of Quaternary Science 27, 884-890.
- Shepherd, A., Ivins, E., Rignot, E., Smith, B., van den Broeke, M., Velicogna, I., Whitehouse, P., Briggs, K., Joughin, I., Krinner, G., Nowicki, S., Payne, T., Scambos, T., Schlegel, N., A, G., Agosta, C., Ahlstrøm, A., Babonis, G., Barletta, V., Blazquez, A., Bonin, J., Csatho, B., Cullather, R., Felikson, D., Fettweis, X., Forsberg, R., Gallee, H., Gardner, A., Gilbert, L., Groh, A., Gunter, B., Hanna, E., Harig, C., Helm, V., Horvath, A., Horwath, M., Khan, S., Kjeldsen, K.K., Konrad, H., Langen, P., Lecavalier, B., Loomis, B., Luthcke, S., McMillan, M., Melini, D., Mernild, S., Mohajerani, Y., Moore, P., Mouginot, J., Moyano, G., Muir, A., Nagler, T., Nield, G., Nilsson, J., Noel, B., Otosaka, I., Pattle, M.E., Peltier, W.R., Pie, N., Rietbroek, R., Rott, H., Sandberg-Sørensen, L., Sasgen, I., Save, H., Scheuchl, B., Schrama, E., Schröder, L., Seo, K.-W., Simonsen, S., Slater, T., Spada, G., Sutterley, T., Talpe, M., Tarasov, L., van de Berg, W.J., van der Wal, W., van Wessem, M., Vishwakarma, B.D., Wiese, D., Wouters, B., The, I.t., 2018. Mass balance of the Antarctic Ice Sheet from 1992 to 2017. Nature 558, 219-222.
- Shevenell, A.E., Ingalls, A.E., Domack, E.W., Kelly, C., 2011. Holocene Southern Ocean surface temperature variability west of the Antarctic Penisnula. Nature 472, 250-254.
- Shis, D., Fulk, E.M., Silberg, J.J., Masiello, C.A., 2020. Engineering Synthetic Biologic Marine Microorganisms for Biosensing in situ, Ocean Sciences Meeting 2020. AGU.
- Siddoway, C.S., 2008. Tectonics of the West Antarctic Rift System: New Light on the History and Dynamics of Distributed Intracontinental Extension, in: Cooper, A.K., P. J. Barrett, H. Stagg, B. Storey, E. Stump, W. Wise, and the 10th ISAES editorial team (Ed.), Antarctica: A Keystone in a Changing World. Proceedings of the 10th International Symposium on Antarctic Earth Sciences. The National Academies Press, Washington, DC, pp. 91-114; DOI: 110.3133/of2007-1047.kp3109.
- Siddoway, C.S., Fanning, C.M., 2009. Paleozoic tectonism on the East Gondwana margin: Evidence from SHRIMP U–Pb zircon geochronology of a migmatite–granite complex in West Antarctica. Tectonophysics 477, 262-277.
- Sieber, C.M., Probst, A.J., Sharrar, A., Thomas, B.C., Hess, M., Tringe, S.G., Banfield, J.F., 2018. Recovery of genomes from metagenomes via a dereplication, aggregation and scoring strategy. Nature microbiology 3, 836-843.
- Siegert, M., Ross, N., Corr, H., Kingslake, J., Hindmarsh, R., 2013. Late Holocene ice-flow reconfiguration in the Weddell Sea sector of West Antarctica. Quaternary Science Reviews 78, 98-107.

- Simões Pereira, P., van de Flierdt, T., Hemming, S.R., Hammond, S.J., Kuhn, G., Brachfeld, S., Doherty, C., Hillenbrand, C.-D., 2018. Geochemical fingerprints of glacially eroded bedrock from West Antarctica: Detrital thermochronology, radiogenic isotope systematics and trace element geochemistry in Late Holocene glacial-marine sediments. Earth-Science Reviews 182, 204-232.
- Sinniger, F., Pawlowski, J., Harii, S., Gooday, A.J., Yamamoto, H., Chevaldonné, P., Cedhagen, T., Carvalho, G., Creer, S., 2016. Worldwide analysis of sedimentary DNA reveals major gaps in taxonomic knowledge of deep-sea benthos. Frontiers in Marine Science 3, 92.
- Smith, J.A., Graham, A.G., Post, A.L., Hillenbrand, C.-D., Bart, P.J., Powell, R.D., 2019. The marine geological imprint of Antarctic ice shelves. Nature Communications 10, 1-16.
- Sosdian, S.M., Babila, T.L., Greenop, R., Foster, G.L., Lear, C., 2020. Ocean carbon storage across the middle Miocene: A new interpretation for the Monterey Event. Nature Communications 11(1), 1-11.
- Sosdian, S.M., Greenop, R., Hain, M.P., Foster, G.L., Pearson, P.N., Lear, C.H., 2018. Constraining the evolution of Neogene ocean carbonate chemistry using the boron isotope pH proxy. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 498, 362-376.
- Steinthorsdottir, M., Coxall, H.K., de Boer, A.M., Huber, M., Barbolini, N., Bradshaw, C.D., Burls, N.J.,
 Feakins, S.J., Gasson, E., Henderiks, J., Holbourn, A., Kiel, S., Kohn, M.J., Knorr, G.,
 Kürschner, W.M., Lear, C.H., Liebrand, D., Lunt, D.J., Mörs, T., Pearson, P.N., Pound, M.J.,
 Stoll, H., Strömberg, C.A.E., 2020. The Miocene: the Future of the Past. Paleoceanography
 and Paleoclimatology 35, e2020PA004037.
- Steinthorsdottir, M., Jardine, P.E., Rember, W.C., 2021. Near-Future pCO₂ During the Hot Miocene Climatic Optimum. Paleoceanography and Paleoclimatology 36, e2020PA003900.
- Subt, C., Yoon, H., Yoo, K., Lee, J., Leventer, A., Domack, E., Rosenheim, B., 2017. Sub-ice shelf sediment geochronology utilizing novel radiocarbon methodology for highly detrital sediments. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 18, 1404-1418.
- Sutter, J., Gierz, P., Grosfeld, K., Thoma, M., Lohmann, G., 2016. Ocean temperature thresholds for Last Interglacial West Antarctic Ice Sheet collapse. Geophysical Research Letters 43, 2675-2682.
- Talarico, F.M., Pace, D., Levy, R.H., 2013. Provenance of basement erratics in Quaternary coastal moraines, southern McMurdo Sound, and implications for the source of Eocene sedimentary rocks. Antarctic Science FirstView, 1-15.
- Talarico, F.M., Sandroni, S., 2011. Early Miocene basement clasts in ANDRILL AND-2A core and their implications for paleoenvironmental changes in the McMurdo Sound region (western Ross Sea, Antarctica). Global and Planetary Change 78, 23-35.
- Tauxe, L., Stickley, C.E., Sugisaki, S., Bijl, P.K., Bohaty, S.M., Brinkhuis, H., Escutia, C., Flores, J.A., Houben, A.J.P., Iwai, M., Jiménez-Espejo, F., McKay, R., Passchier, S., Pross, J., Riesselman, C.R., Röhl, U., Sangiorgi, F., Welsh, K., Klaus, A., Fehr, A., Bendle, J.A.P., Dunbar, R., Gonzàlez, J., Hayden, T., Katsuki, K., Olney, M.P., Pekar, S.F., Shrivastava, P.K., van de Flierdt, T., Williams, T., Yamane, M., 2012. Chronostratigraphic framework for the IODP Expedition 318 cores from the Wilkes Land Margin: Constraints for paleoceanographic reconstruction. Paleoceanography 27, n/a-n/a.
- Tingey, R.J., 1991. The regional geology of Archaean and Proterozoic rocks in Antarctica, in: Tingey, R.J. (Ed.), The geology of Antarctica, Oxford monographs on geology and geophysics. Clarendon Press, Oxford, pp. 1-73.

- Truswell, E.M., Drewry, D.J., 1984. Distribution and provenance of recycled palynomorphs in surficial sediments of the Ross Sea, Antarctica. Marine Geology 59, 187-214.
- Tyler, S., Holland, D., Zagorodnov, V., Stern, A., Sladek, C., Kobs, S., White, S., Suárez, F., Bryenton, J., 2013. Using distributed temperature sensors to monitor an Antarctic ice shelf and sub-iceshelf cavity. Journal of Glaciology 59, 583-591.
- UNFCCC, 2015. Paris Agreement.
- van de Flierdt, T., Simoes Pereira, P., Bertram, R.A., Wilson, D.J., Hemming, S.R., Hillenbrand, C.-D., Kuhn, G., Smith, J.A., Gohl, K., 2019. Tracing Unstable Marine-Based Sectors of the Antarctic Ice Sheet during Late Pleistocene Warm Times (PP24A-08), AGU Fall Meeting, San Francisco.
- van Haastrecht, L., 2020. Subglacial Conditions of the Kamb Ice Stream and its Response to Environmental Change, Antarctic Research Centre. Victoria University of Wellington, Wellington.
- Velicogna, I., Sutterley, T.C., van den Broeke, M.R., 2014. Regional acceleration in ice mass loss from Greenland and Antarctica using GRACE time-variable gravity data. Geophysical Research Letters 41, 8130-8137.
- Venturelli, R.A., Siegfried, M.R., Roush, K.A., Li, W., Burnett, J., Zook, R., Fricker, H.A., Priscu, J.C., Leventer, A., Rosenheim, B.E., 2020. Mid-Holocene Grounding Line Retreat and Readvance at Whillans Ice Stream, West Antarctica. Geophysical Research Letters 47, e2020GL088476.
- Vick-Majors, T.J., Michaud, A.B., Skidmore, M.L., Turetta, C., Barbante, C., Christner, B.C., Dore, J.E., Christianson, K., Mitchell, A.C., Achberger, A.M., 2020. Biogeochemical connectivity between freshwater ecosystems beneath the West Antarctic ice sheet and the sub-ice marine environment. Global Biogeochemical Cycles 34, no-no.
- Vincent, E., Berger, W.H., 1985. Carbon dioxide and polar cooling in the Miocene; the Monterey Hypothesis, in: Sundquist, E.T., Broecker, W.S. (Eds.), The carbon cycle and atmospheric CO₂: natural variations Archean to present. Geophysical Monograph 32, pp. 455-468.
- Vries, M., Bingham, R.G., Hein, A., 2017. Ice and fire: A new volcanic province under West Antarctica.
- Warny, S., Askin, R.A., Hannah, M.J., Mohr, B.A.R., Raine, J.I., Harwood, D.M., Florindo, F., the SMS Science Team, 2009. Palynomorphs from a sediment core reveal a sudden remarkably warm Antarctica during the middle Miocene. Geology 37, 955-958.
- Weaver, S., Adams, C., Pankhurst, R., Gibson, I., 1992. Granites of Edward VII Peninsula, Marie Byrd Land: anorogenic magmatism related to Antarctic-New Zealand rifting. Earth and Environmental Science Transactions of The Royal Society of Edinburgh 83, 281-290.
- Westerhold, T., Marwan, N., Drury, A.J., Liebrand, D., Agnini, C., Anagnostou, E., Barnet, J.S.K.,
 Bohaty, S.M., De Vleeschouwer, D., Florindo, F., Frederichs, T., Hodell, D.A., Holbourn, A.E.,
 Kroon, D., Lauretano, V., Littler, K., Lourens, L.J., Lyle, M., Pälike, H., Röhl, U., Tian, J.,
 Wilkens, R.H., Wilson, P.A., Zachos, J.C., 2020. An astronomically dated record of Earth's
 climate and its predictability over the last 66 million years. Science 369, 1383-1387.
- White, J., Houghton, B., 2006. Primary volcaniclastic rocks. Geology 34, 677-680.
- Williams, T., Flierdt, T.v.d., Hemming, S.R., Chunga, E., Roya, M., Goldstein, S.L., 2010. Evidence for iceberg armadas from East Antarctica in the Southern Ocean during the late Miocene and early Pliocene. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 290, 351-361.
- Willmott, V., Domack, E.W., Canals, M., Brachfeld, S., 2006. A high resolution relative paleointensity record from the Gerlache-Boyd paleo-ice stream region, northern Antarctic Peninsula. Quaternary Research 66, 1-11.

- Wilson, D.J., Bertram, R.A., Needham, E.F., van de Flierdt, T., Welsh, K.J., McKay, R.M., Mazumder, A., Riesselman, C.R., Jimenez-Espejo, F.J., Escutia, C., 2018. Ice loss from the East Antarctic Ice Sheet during late Pleistocene interglacials. Nature 561, 383-386.
- Wilson, D.S., Pollard, D., DeConto, R.M., Jamieson, S.S.R., Luyendyk, B.P., 2013. Initiation of the West Antarctic Ice Sheet and estimates of total Antarctic ice volume in the earliest Oligocene. Geophysical Research Letters 40, 1-5.
- Wilson, G.S., Naish, T.R., Powell, R.D., Levy, R.H., Crampton, J.S., 2012. 'Late Neogene chronostratigraphy and depositional environments on the Antarctic Margin: New results from the ANDRILL McMurdo Ice Shelf Project'. Global and Planetary Change 96–97, 1-8.
- Wilson, T.J., Paulsen, T., Laufer, A., Millan, C., ANDRILL_MIS_Science_Team, 2007. Fracture logging of the AND-1B Core, ANDRILL McMurdo Ice Shelf Project, Antarctica, in: Naish, T., Powell, R., Levy, R. (Eds.), Studies from the ANDRILL, McMurdo Ice Shelf Project, Antarctica Initial Science Report on AND-1B. Terra Antartica, pp. 175-184.
- Winter, D., Sjunneskog, C., Scherer, R., Maffioli, P., Riesselman, C., Harwood, D., 2012. Pliocene– Pleistocene diatom biostratigraphy of nearshore Antarctica from the AND-1B drillcore, McMurdo Sound. Global and Planetary Change 96, 59-74.
- Yau, A.M., Bender, M.L., Robinson, A., Brook, E.J., 2016. Reconstructing the last interglacial at Summit, Greenland: Insights from GISP2. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 9710-9715.
- Yokoyama, Y., Anderson, J.B., Yamane, M., Simkins, L.M., Miyairi, Y., Yamazaki, T., Koizumi, M., Suga, H., Kusahara, K., Prothro, L., 2016. Widespread collapse of the Ross Ice Shelf during the late Holocene. Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences 113, 2354-2359.
- You, Y., 2010. Climate-model evaluation of the contribution of sea-surface temperature and carbon dioxide to the Middle Miocene Climate Optimum as a possible analogue of future climate change. Australian Journal of Earth Sciences: An International Geoscience Journal of the Geological Society of Australia 57, 207 - 219.
- You, Y., Huber, M., Müller, R.D., Poulsen, C.J., Ribbe, J., 2009. Simulation of the Middle Miocene Climate Optimum. Geophysical Research Letters 36, 1-5.
- Zachos, J., Pagani, M., Sloan, L., Thomas, E., Billups, K., 2001. Trends, rhythms, and aberrations in global climate 65 Ma to present. Science 292, 686-693.
- Zattin, M., Andreucci, B., Thomson, S.N., Reiners, P.W., Talarico, F.M., 2012. New constraints on the provenance of the ANDRILL AND-2A succession (western Ross Sea, Antarctica) from apatite triple dating. Geochemistry, Geophysics, Geosystems 13, n/a-n/a.
- Zielinski, U., Gersonde, R., Sieger, R., Fuetterer, D.K., 1998. Quaternary surface water temperature estimations: Calibration of a diatom transfer function for the Southern Ocean. Palaeogeography, Palaeoclimatology, Palaeoecology 13, 365-383.